EVALUATION OF YIELD AND ECONOMIC ADVANTAGE OF INTERCROPPING ROSELLE WITH DIFFERENT PLANTING DENSITIES OF COMMON BEAN AT HAWASSA, SOUTHERN ETHIOPIA

M.Sc. THESIS

DEJENE TADESSE BANJAW

OCTOBER, 2018 JIMMA UNIVERSITY

EVALUATION OF YIELD AND ECONOMIC ADVANTAGE OF INTERCROPPING ROSELLE WITH DIFFERENT PLANTING DENSITIES OF COMMON BEAN AT HAWASSA, SOUTHERN ETHIOPIA

A Thesis

Submitted to the Department of Horticulture and Plant Sciences, Jimma University College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine, in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Degree of Master of Science in Horticulture

By

Dejene Tadesse Banjaw

October, 2018 Jimma, Ethiopia

SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES JIMMA UNIVERSITY

As research advisors, we hereby certify that we have read and evaluated the thesis prepared by Dejene Tadesse Banjaw under our guidance, entitled "**Evaluation of Yield and Economic Advantage of Intercropping Roselle with Different Planting Densities of Common Bean at Hawassa, Southern Ethiopia**". We recommend that the thesis be submitted as it fulfills the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Horticulture.

Mohammed Worku (Assistant Professor)			
Major Advisor	Signature	Date	
Belstie Lule (Associate Researcher)			
Co-advisor	Signature	Date	

As members of the Board of Examiners of the MSc. thesis, open defense examination of Dejene Tadesse Banjaw, we certify that we have read, evaluated the thesis, and examined the candidate. We recommend the thesis be accepted as fulfilling the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Horticulture.

<u>Jima Nago</u>		
Chairperson	Signature	Date
Deribew Belew (Professor)		
Internal Examiner	Signature	Date
Tesfaye Shimber (PhD.)		
External Examiner	Signature	Date

DEDICATION

I dedicated this M.Sc. Thesis to Shewaye Tadesse and Alemayehu Umeta.

STATEMENT OF THE AUTHOR

First, I declare that this thesis is my own work and I have duly acknowledged all sources of materials that I used for writing it. I have submitted this thesis to the Department of Horticulture and Plant Sciences, Jimma University College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Sciences in Horticulture and deposited it at the University's library to be made available to borrowers for reference under the rules and regulations of the library. I solemnly declare that I have not submitted this thesis to any other institution anywhere for the award of any academic degree, diploma, or certificate.

Brief quotations from this thesis are allowable without requiring special permission provided that an accurate acknowledgement of the source is made. Requests for permission for extended quotations from or reproduction of this thesis in whole or in part may be granted by Head of the Department of Horticulture and Plant Sciences or the Dean of School of Graduate Studies of the University when the intended use of the material is for a scholarly interest. In all other instances, however, permission must be obtained from the author.

Name: <u>Dejene Tadesse Banjaw</u> Signature: -----Department: <u>Horticulture and Plant Sciences</u> Date of Submission: -----

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

The author, Dejene Tadesse Banjaw, was born on 08 November 1980 in Baco Woreda, West Shoa Zone, Oromia Region, Ethiopia. He completed elementary school from 1987 to 1995 at Guto Adulan and Sheboka Primary Schools and his secondary school from 1996 to 1999 at Baco, Metehara and Adama Hawas Secondary Schools. He joined Hawassa University in 2000 and graduated with the Degree of Bachelor of Science in Plant Production and Dry Land Farming in 2004.

After graduation, he joined Agarfa College of Agriculture as Junior Instructor in Department of Plant Science from 11 October 2004 to 7 July 2005. Then, after he has worked being crop protection and agronomy expert at both Bale Agricultural Development Enterprise (from 8 July 2005 to 8 May 2008) and Arsi Agricultural Development Enterprise (from 9 May 2008 to 8 February 2012) large-scale government farms, he has employed by Ethiopian Institute of Agricultural Research and served at Wondo Genet Agricultural Research Center as seed quality expert from 9 February 2012 to 7 February 2014 and later as researcher in Aromatic and Medicinal Crops Research Program until he joined Jimma University in October 2016 to pursue a study leading to the Degree of Master of Science in Horticulture. He has got short-term training certificates in the areas of crop protection, seed production and research from different institutions as well as a Degree of Bachelor of Art in Management from Unity University in 2010.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

All done by GOD! Next, I wish to express my sincere gratitude and heartfelt thanks to my major advisor Mr. Mohammed Worku and co-advisor Mr. Belstie Lulie, for their valuable, encouraging and constructive comments and continuous supervisions from the initial stage of proposal development to the completion of the final write-up of the thesis.

I would like to thank Ethiopian Institute of Agricultural Research for financial support and Wondo Genet Agricultural Research Center for facilitating my research work and Hawassa Green Mark Herbs PLC for giving me experimental plots and irrigation water. My thanks also go to Woretaw Sisay and Birara Tilahun for their kind support from the beginning to the end of my research work. In addition, I would like to acknowledge field workers and laboratory staff of Wondo Genet Agricultural Research Center for their valuable support during fieldwork and data collection, and valuable contributions during laboratory work, respectively. My special appreciation goes to Tigist Girma, Asinakech Shanko and Birhane Mezgebu for their valuable assistance during data collection and recording. Finally, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my wife, Tibilet Yirga, who supported me a lot during my study time.

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

FAO	Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations
LER	Land Equivalent Ratio
MAFAP	Monitoring and Analyzing Food and Agricultural policies
MAI	Monetary Advantage Index
PLC	Private Limited Company
SAS	Statistically Analysis System
WGARC	Wondo Genet Agricultural Research Center
EIAR	Ethiopian Institute of Agricultural Research

Contents	Page
APPROVAL SHEET	III
DEDICATION	IV
STATEMENT OF THE AUTHOR	V
BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH	VI
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	VII
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	IX
LIST OF TABLES	XII
LIST OF FIGURES	XIII
LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES	XIV
LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES	XV
ABSTRACT	XVI
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. LITRATURE REVIEW	4
2.1 Roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.):	4
2.1.1 Origin and Taxonomy	4
2.1.2 Botanical Description of Roselle	4
2.1.3 Ecology, Cultivation and Production	5
2.2 Common Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.)	6
2.3 Cropping System	7
2.4 Intercropping	8
2.4.1 Types of intercropping	8
2.4.2 Advantages of intercropping	9
2.4.2.1 Crop yield	9
2.4.2.2 Monetary value	11

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.4.2.3 Control of crop pests	13
2.4.2.4 Improvement of soil fertility	14
2.4.3 Disadvantages of intercropping	15
2.5 Effect of Intercropping on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Roselle	15
2.6 Intercropping Performance of Roselle Based on Competition Indices	17
3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	18
3.1 Description of the Study Area	18
3.2 Experimental Materials	
3.3 Experimental Design and Treatment Arrangement	19
3.4 Experimental Procedures and Methods of Data Collection	
3.4.1 Management practices	20
3.4.2 Data collection	21
3.4.2.1 Roselle	21
3.4.2.2 Common bean	22
3.4.2.3 Weed data	23
3.4.2.4 Indices of intercropping competition	
3.5 Data Analysis	
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSION	26
4.1 Responses Roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.) to Intercropping	26
4.1.1 Phenological and growth responses	
4.1.1.1 Days to 50% flowering and days to maturity	26
4.1.1.2 Plant height	27
4.1.1.3 Number of primary branches per plant	28
4.1.2 Yield and yield components	29
4.1.2.1 Number of capsules per plant	29
4.1.2.2 Seed yield per plant	30
4.1.2.3 Thousand seed weight	31

4.1.2.4 Fresh and dry calyx yield per hectare	32
4.1.2.5 Aboveground fresh and dry biomass yield per hectare	
4.1.2.6 Harvest index	
4.2 Common Bean Responses to Intercropping	
4.2.1 Phenological and growth responses	
4.2.1.1 Days to 50% flowering and days to maturity	
4.2.1.2 Plant height	37
4.2.2 Yield components and seed yield	
4.2.2.1 Number of pods per plant	
4.2.2.2 Seed number per pod	
4.2.2.3 Thousand seed weight	40
4.2.2.4 Seed yield per hectare	40
4.2.2.5 Aboveground fresh and dry biomass yield per hectare	43
4.3 Effect of Roselle and Common Bean Intercropping on Weed Infestation	45
4.3.1 Visual weed infestation rating (scale 1-6)	45
4.3.2 Weed density	46
4.3.3 Aboveground weed biomass weight	
4.4 Productivity of Roselle-Common Bean Intercropping	48
4.4.1 Partial and total land equivalent ratio	48
4.4.1.1 Roselle and common bean partial land equivalent ratio	
4.4.1.2 Total land equivalent ratio	49
4.4.2 Monetary advantage index (MAI)	50
5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	51
6. REFERENCES	53
7. APPENDICES	61
7.1 Appendix Tables	61
7.2 Appendix Figures	69

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Treatments and corresponding roselle and common bean planting densities (number of plants per hectare and plot; figures in the bracket indicate number of plants per plot).----20

Table 2. Mean values of phenological and growth parameters of two roselle varieties grown with sole cropping and intercropping systems with different common bean planting densities at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.----27

Table 3. Mean capsules number per plant, seed yield per plant, and thousand seed weight of two roselle varieties grown in sole cropping and intercropping with different common bean planting densities at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season. ------32

Table 4. Mean of fresh and dry calyces yield, fresh and dry above ground biomass yield, and harvest index of two roselle varieties grown in sole cropping and intercropping with different common bean planting densities at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season. ------35

Table 6. Mean values of yield and yield components of common bean as affected by sole cropping and intercropping with two roselle varieties at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.-----42

Table 7. Mean values of visual weed infestation rating, weed density, and aboveground dry weed biomass as affected by in intercropping two roselle varieties with different planting density of common bean ------47

Table 8. Productivity of two roselle varieties and a common bean under an intercropping system of roselle with different common bean planting densities at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season. ------50

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Mean values of fresh above ground biomass (FAB) and dry aboveground biomass (DAB) weights (ton/ha) of common bean as affected by roselle varieties at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season. -----43

Figure 2 Mean values of fresh aboveground biomass (FAB) and dry aboveground biomass (DAB) weights (ton/ha) of common bean as affected by its planting densities at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.----44

Figure 3 Mean values of fresh aboveground biomass (FAB) and dry aboveground biomass (DAB) weights (ton/ha) of common bean as affected by sole cropping and intercropping systems at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.-----45

LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES

Appendix Table 1 Analysis of variance for phenology, yield and yield components of roselle as affected by variety, planting density, and cropping system at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season-----61

Appendix Table 2 Analysis of variance for fresh and dry calyx yield per hectare, fresh and dry aboveground biomass yield per hectare, harvest index of roselle as affected by variety, planting density, and cropping system at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season -----62

Appendix Table 3 Analysis of variance for phenological and growth parameters of common bean as affected by variety, planting density, and cropping system at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season------63

Appendix Table 4 Analysis of variance for yield and yield components of common bean as affected by variety, planting density, and cropping system at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season-----64

Appendix Table 5 Analysis of variance for fresh and dry aboveground biomass yield of common bean as affected by roselle variety, common bean planting density, and cropping system at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season-----65

Appendix Table 6 Analysis of variance for visual rating of weed infestation, weed density, and aboveground biomass as affected by roselle variety, common bean planting density, and cropping system at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season------66

Appendix Table 7 Analysis of variance for productivity of roselle as affected by roselle variety and common bean planting density in roselle-common bean intercropping at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season------67

Appendix Table 8 Weeds species and their relative density in roselle-common bean intercropping at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season------68

LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES

Appendix Figure 1. Picture showing intercropping Hibiscus-Sudan variety with common bean at Hawassa, Southern Ethiopia
Appendix Figure2. Picture showing intercropping Hibiscus-Jamaica variety with common bean at Hawassa, Southern Ethiopia
Appendix Figure 3 Picture showing roselle at seedling stage before intercropping common bean (left) and sowing common bean (right)
Appendix Figure 4 Picture showing roselle calyx yield collection71
Appendix Figure 5 Picture showing sun drying roselle calyx yield

Evaluation of Yield and Economic Advantage of Intercropping Roselle with Different Planting Densities of Common Bean at Hawassa, Southern Ethiopia

ABSTRACT

Roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.) is a medicinal plant grown for its calyx yield. But, its cultivation in Ethiopia is not as common as that of other crops due to lack of appropriate cropping system. This experiment was therefore, conducted at Hawassa, southern Ethiopia, during 2017/2018 dry season to evaluate the performance of roselle and determine best intercropping combination of roselle with common bean for better economic yield, monetary advantage, and weed suppression. The experiment was carried out in a RCBD with a a 2x4factorial arrangement and consisted of three replications and 11 treatments (sole cropping of two roselle varieties (Hibiscus-Sudan and Hibiscus-Jamaica) and a common bean variety (Ibbado) and intercropping of the roselle varieties with four common bean planting densities combinations (25%, 50%, 75%, and 100%)). All data collected were subjected to analysis of variance using SAS software version 9.3. Differences between means were assessed using Duncan's Multiple Range Test at 5% probability level. Results of the experiment showed that the interaction between the main factors were nonsignificant for all parameters. However, the difference between the two roselle varieties was significant for all parameters evaluated in this experiment. Hibiscus-Jamaica took more days to flowering and maturity (145 and 180, respectively) and it was superior all parameters, except for thousand seed weight. Common bean planting density significantly influenced roselle seed yield per plant and dry calyx yield per hectare. Seed yields of roselle intercropped with 25% (46.6g) and 50% (47.05g) were statistically similar to that of 75% (40.65g) and 100% (39.27g) common bean planting densities. Dry calyx yield of roselle was higher at 25% (0.88 t ha⁻¹) and lower at 100% planting density (0.74 t ha⁻¹). Intercropping reduced roselle seed yield per plant by 16.62% and dry calyx yield per hectare by 12.1%. Hibiscus-Jamaica significantly reduced common bean maturity period and all yield and yield components, except 1000 seed weight. While number of pods per plant and seed number per pod showed decreasing trend, seed and biomass yields per hectare increased as planting density increased from 25% to 100%. Common bean planting density and cropping system significantly affected weed infestation. The highest values for visual estimate weed ground coverage, weed density, and weed dry biomass were recorded for 25% planting density (2, 15.43 plant/ m^2 , and 13.34g/ m^2 respectively) and for sole cropping $(2.5, 17.21 \text{ plant/m}^2, \text{ and } 15.61 \text{g/m}^2 \text{ respectively})$. Land equivalent ratio (LER) of Common bean was highest when intercropped with Hibiscus-Sudan (0.51) than with Hibiscus-Jamaica (0.38). Both roselle variety and common bean planting density did not influence total LER and monetary advantage index (MAI). However, higher vield and monetary advantages were obtained with variety Hibiscus-Sudan variety (35% and 17,946 ETB) and for 100% planting density (39% and 21,410 ETB) which was also effective in weed control. Therefore, intercropping Hibiscus-Sudan with a 100% planting density of common bean was recommended for growers in the same agroecology with the study area for better yield and economic advantage as well as for better weed control. Since this study was conducted during the dry season at one location, it should be repeated under rainfed condition at different locations and in different years.

Keywords: Calyx, monetary advantage, planting density, weed control

1. INTRODUCTION

Intercropping is an agronomic practice, which involves growing two or more crops on the same land unit in a particular growing season (Sullivan, 2003). Intercropping has various advantages over sole cropping, such as, it increases yield per unit area (Ali *et al.*, 2015), avoids a risk of total yield loss as when one crop fails the producer may harvest the other crop (Heydari *et al.*, 2016), and improves household income of the producers (Zhang *et al.*, 2015). Another important aspect of intercropping is the reduction of the negative impact of weed, insect, and disease incidences compared to sole cropping (Lithourgidis *et al.*, 2011). Despite these benefits, intercropping has some limitations, such as, reduction in yields of individual crops that might be due to competition for growth resources (Mainly water, nutrients and light) and creates some difficulties in crop management when intercrops have different cultural practices like fertilizer, pesticides, irrigation, and harvesting (Lithourgidis *et al.*, 2011).

Nevertheless, intercropping is more advantageous for developing countries, like Ethiopia, because it enables efficient use of limited resources like arable land. In Ethiopia, many studies reported the advantage of intercropping through combinations of different crop species, including medicinal plants. For example, maize with common bean (Hirpa, 2014; Adafre, 2016), sorghum with groundnut (Dereje *et al.*, 2016), common bean with stevia (a medicinal plant) (Lulie and Bogale, 2014) and maize with basil (Girma, 2015) intercropping resulted in a higher yield and economic advantage over sole cropping. Cultivation of medicinal plants in Ethiopia is being encouraged and promoted by the government and various medicinal plants have been prioritized and being studied by Wondo Genet Agricultural Research Center (WGARC). The inclusion of medicinal plants such as garlic, basil, lepidium, stevia, geranium, coriander, and roselle in the farming system may increase income and widen farm products of the growers.

Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.), belonging to the family Malvaceae, is one of the important medicinal plants grown in tropical and subtropical regions mainly for its calyx (Plotto *et al.*, 2004). In addition to its health benefit, roselle has industrial and nutritional values (Mahadevan and Kamboj, 2009). Roselle can be cultivated either in a sole cropping or in an intercropping system with different crops. Compatibility and higher intercrop productivity of roselle with legume crops, such as cowpea (Muoneke *et al.*, 2002; Heydari *et al.*, 2016; Gendy *et al.*, 2006; Gendy *et al.*, 2016; Gendy *et al.*,

al., 2017), peanut (Rigi *et al.*, 2017) and groundnut (Fbabatunde, 2003), have been reported. However, the performance of roselle in intercropping system has not been well known in Ethiopia, except some inter and intra row spacing determination (Gebremedin, 2015) and costbenefit studies during direct sowing and transplanting roselle varieties (Girma *et al.*, 2014a).

In Ethiopia, two roselle varieties (WG-Hibiscus-Jamaica and WG-Hibiscus-Sudan) were released and registered and profitability of their production has been reported (Girma *et al.*, 2014a). However, cultivation of roselle is restricted to few growers though it is an important medicinal plant in the country. In Wondo Genet and Hawassa areas of Southern Ethiopia, farmers often grow crops in a mixed cropping system and the released two roselle varieties are observed in few gardens. Lack of appropriate cropping system and weak research-extension linkage are among the main production constraints of roselle in Sidama zone of the Southern Nations, Nationalities, and Peoples Region (SNNPR) of Ethiopia. Hence, in order to expand the production of this crop and provide a quality product to the domestic and foreign markets, identification of a certain cropping system, like intercropping with legume crops such as common bean, can be one of the best options.

Common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) is one of the major annual legume crops grown in different parts of Ethiopia including Hawassa. It is used as a source of food and income for a number of households. Some studies have reported the performances of common bean varieties in different areas of Ethiopia (Mulu *et al.*, 2016; Gereziher *et al.*, 2017). Besides, various findings also indicated that common bean improved agronomic performances of intercrops and monetary advantages from intercropping (Temesgen *et al.*, 2015; Adafre, 2016). These advantages might have resulted from its fast-growing nature, ability to fix atmospheric nitrogen, and better complementary with various crops. In Ethiopia, however, the performance of roselle under intercropping with common bean has not been studied despite the release of two improved roselle varieties and availability of various common bean varieties in the country.

Therefore, identification and utilization of a suitable cropping system for different roselle varieties can play a key role to increase productivity of the crop and land use efficiency in potential growing areas. In this regard, roselle production in Southern Ethiopia, a region where common bean is widely used for intercropping and a household landholding is very small (Dessie and Kleman, 2007), can be improved by intercropping it with common bean. In addition to this, intercropping roselle with common bean may also improve incomes of the growers and provide a variety of products that have different uses (e.g., food, feed, and medicine) for households. Therefore, this study was initiated with the following objectives:

1. To assess yield and growth performances of two different roselle varieties intercropped with different planting densities of common bean,

2. To determine the best intercropping combinations of roselle varieties and common bean planting densities for higher economic yield, weed suppression, land use efficiency and monetary advantage in Hawassa area, Southern Ethiopia.

2. LITRATURE REVIEW

2.1 Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.)

2.1.1 Origin and Taxonomy

The origin of roselle is not clear as some authors reported to be Asia (Mahadevan and Kamboj, 2009) and others stated tropical Africa (Ismail *et al.*, 2008; Tounkara *et al.*, 2011) as its place of origin. More than 300 species reported from which the most common botanical types of roselle were *Hibiscus sabdariffa var. altissima* and *Hibiscus sabdariffa var. sabdariffa* (Purseglove, 1974; Tejaswini *et al.*, 1995; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2013). These two botanical types vary in morphology, yield and used differently for various purposes (Mahadevan and Kamboj, 2009). Roselle is an annual shrub that belongs to family Malvaceae and it is known by various common names like Karkade, hibiscus, Rozelle, red sorrel, Jamaican sorrel, rosella, Indian sorrel (Mahadevan and Kamboj, 2009; El Naim *et al.*, 2012).

2.1.2 Botanical Description of Roselle

Roselle is an annual plant that grows upright, branched or unbranched, with a height range from 1 to 2.5m depending on the varieties (Babatunde *et al.*, 2002). However, different authors reported roselle plant height differently, while Mohamed *et al.* (2012) reported a range of 0.5 to 2 meter, Mahadevan and Kamboj (2009) indicated as it was about 3.5 meter. Roselle is a deep tap-rooted plant known with dark green or red stem, alternate green leaves with reddish vein having either long or short internodes (Mahadevan and Kamboj, 2009). Flowers are borne singly in the leaf axils having yellow or rose color, which turn to pink when wither. Fruits or capsules of roselle are 1.25-2cm long and green when immature and turns brown and split open when mature and dry. It has cleistogamous flowers and known being highly self-pollinated crop (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2013). However, studies in the natural outcross of Jamaica type roselle resulted as outcrossing was observed and suggested the importance of selfing to maintain the genetic purity of the genotypes (Vaidya, 2000). It was stated that *var. altissima* was taller in height, unbranched, produces inedible calyx and grown for fiber while *var. sabdariffa* was bushy, pigmented and cultivated for its fleshy calyces (Mahadevan and Kamboj, 2009). Seed capsules

(pods) of roselle begin to ripen starting from bottom and continue to top. According to Schippers (2000), the main economic yield of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* is calyx, fleshy sepal surrounding the seed boll in the flower, and has green, red or dark red color. As flowers fall off, the calyces swell and mature. During harvesting bright red calyx peeled off by hand from fruit (capsule) and subjected to the sun or artificial dry to get dry calyces yield. On the other hand, seeds and leaves are other important parts of the plant even though not common in Ethiopia.

2.1.3 Ecology and Production

Roselle grows well in loamy, well-drained soil in tropical and subtropical climates (EL-Sherf and Sarwat, 2007). Medagam *et al.* (2015) quoted (Tomes, 1990) indicated that roselle can be cultivated under warm seasons being resistant to a high-temperature condition. Roselle is not shade tolerant and is susceptible to damage from frost and fog. Roselle plants can be cultivated in tropical climates with well distributed annual rainfall of 1500-2000 mm. Roselle is propagated by seeds and the possibility of its propagation from cuttings reported (Mahadevan and Kamboj, 2009). Roselle can be directly seeded on the main field or by transplanting seedlings. In direct sowing, 2-10 number of seeds per hole used and thinned later (Ahmed *et al.*, 2009; Atta *et al.*, 2010) to pre-planned crop stand. Roselle can be cultivated under the sole or intercropping systems (Babatunde *et al.*, 2002; Gendy *et al.*, 2017). Roselle is produced widely in the tropical and subtropical areas of the world. According to Mohamed *et al.* (2012), roselle largely cultivated in Sudan, China, Thailand, and Mexico, of which China and Thailand are the major producer and supplier countries in the world. Roselle is produced for its health benefits, food, feed and for income generation purposes (Mahadevan and Kamboj, 20009; Builders *et al.*, 2013).

According to Plotto *et al.* (2004), the calyx of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa*) used for health teas, medicines, syrups, and food coloring in China. The health benefit of the plant is obtained from its seeds and calyx. Findings of Pacome *et al.* (2014) also showed that calyx extract of roselle is a potential source of natural antioxidants. Furthermore, Mohd-Esa *et al.* (2010) have reported that roselle seed extracts were found to have the highest antioxidant activity and strongest radical-scavenging activity of all plants tested and suggested as roselle seeds have potential to be

used as food antioxidants. Calyces of roselle are prolific in many modern commercial blends of herbal drinks, fermented, cold and hot beverages due to its pleasing taste, as well as having decorative, culinary and medicinal uses (Mahadevan and Kamboj, 2009). Besides, an antihypertensive effect (Ajay et al., 2007) of roselle calyces and its wound healing potential (Builders et al., 2013) have been reported. Moreover, the nutritional benefits of roselle haven been reported in different countries. In India roselle is cultivated for its green leaves under the traditional farming system (Medagam et al., 2015). Roselle leaves and tender shoots are eaten raw and cooked as a vegetable while seeds are eaten roasted and ground into a meal because of their important nutritional contents (Da-Costa-Rocha et al., 2014). Hainida et al. (2008) reported the predominant macro nutrients in roselle seeds which include potassium, magnesium, and calcium. Besides, while roselle seeds are used for oil production, residues from seeds oil extraction and leaves can also be used as animal feed (Plotto et al., 2004). The authors also indicated as leaves and powdered seeds of roselle were used for local foodstuff in West Africa. Besides, though a type of crop cultivar, location, and environmental conditions during cultivation affect nutritional components, roselle seeds have oil and protein that can be used as a supplement material for poor food in lysine (Elneairy, 2014). In Sudan roselle being a cash crop produced for its red calyx yield for local and export purposes (Ahmed et al., 2009).

Roselle is one of the medicinal plants recognized in Ethiopia cultivated for its calyx yield. The calyx is used for health tea to regulate hypertensive effects. Currently, two roselle varieties have been registered and to enhance its production in the country different research activities were being conducted. The highest fresh and dry calyx yield per hectare for both Jamaica and Sudan varieties were recorded at 60 cm x 30 cm than other spacing (Gebremedin, 2015). It was suggested as the cultivation of both roselle varieties was profitable in Ethiopia (Girma *et al.*, 2014a).

2.2 Common Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.)

Common bean is an annual low land pulse crop which belongs to the family Fabaceae. It is known by names like haricot bean, kidney bean, and locally called Boleqe. Common bean is one among the most important grain legumes produced mainly in the lowlands and in the rift valley areas of Ethiopia being source of income, employment and food (FAO, 2015). It grows best in warm temperature areas. Besides, common bean is one of the widely produced legumes crops in southern and eastern parts of Ethiopia for local and export markets contributing to foreign exchange earnings.

Common bean is grown as a rotation crop with cereals and possibility and effectiveness of the crop in intercropping have been reported (Temesgen *et al.*, 2015; Adafre, 2016). This might be due to fixation of atmospheric nitrogen, a wide range of growth habits, and early maturity. Furthermore, according to Hirpa (2014), intercropping of maize with common bean resulted in the highest land use efficiency value which was 54% more efficient than growing both crops in the sole stand. Besides, Lulie and Bogale (2014) reported the advantages and profitability of intercropping common bean with stevia based on the highest results of the land equivalent ratio and monetary advantage indices.

2.3 Cropping System

The cropping system is an order in which the crops are cultivated on a piece of land over a fixed period or it is the way in which different crops are grown (Rana and Rana, 2011). There are different types of cropping system among which the common ones include crop rotation, monocropping, mixed cropping or intercropping (Gliessman, 1985). Crop rotation is growing different crops year to year based on planned sequence with the advantages of breaking weed and other pests' life cycles and provision of complementary fertilization to crops in sequence (Sullivan, 2003). Mono-cropping is growing only one crop on a particular land year after year. It is commonly practiced preferred by developed countries because of their large-scale mechanized farming systems which are not conducive to practice multiple cropping which is growing two or more crops on the same piece of land in one calendar year. In the case of multiple cropping, crops are grown together or they are grown separately at short intervals in the same field. Unlike mono-cropping, multiple cropping systems allow practices of intercropping and enhance production per unit time and per unit space by intensification of cropping in time and space dimensions (Sullivan, 2003). Intercropping practices have been considered as best option to get a higher yield that can be used for growing world population. This might be obtained by proper crop selection and good management practices in the intercropping system. The considerations for crop selection used in the intercropping include difference in crop species, crop variation in above ground and below ground morphology, difference in maturity periods of the crops, and ability of the crops to give yield while reducing weeds and other pests in intercropping. Besides, proper plant densities, spatial arrangements, and time of planting enhance the effectiveness of the intercropping practices in crop production which can be evaluated from the yield advantage and the monetary return (Gliessman, 1985).

One of the methods intensifying crops or multiple cropping in time and space for better use of resources such as land, water, solar radiation, inputs, and labor is by doing intercropping. Intercropping, growing two or more crops either simultaneously or sequentially on the same land unit, believed to be old practices and has potential as an economical and ecological alternative fully compatible with modern agricultural (Horwith, 1985). Unlike sole cropping, two or more crops involved and share space and time in the intercropping system.

2.4 Intercropping

2.4.1 Types of intercropping

Different authors stated various systems of intercropping differently. It can be an additive series or replacement series intercropping. While one crop is main and the other becomes a component in additive series intercropping, there is no main crop as both are component in replacement series system of intercropping. In additive series intercropping, a plant population of the main crop is same as plant population recommended for a pure stand, but the plant population of component crop can vary from that of its recommendation at a pure stand. Furthermore, even though there is no information about population density, Vandermeer (1992) described four types of intercropping such as:

1. Row-intercropping: it is growing two or more crops simultaneously where one or more crops planted in regular rows, and crop or other crops be grown simultaneously in a row or randomly with the first crop,

2. Mixed-intercropping: it is growing two or more crops simultaneously with no distinct row arrangement,

3. Strip-intercropping: it is growing two or more crops simultaneously in different strips wide enough to permit independent cultivation but narrow enough for the crops to interact ergonomically and

4. Relay- intercropping: it is growing two or more crops simultaneously during part of the life cycle of each where a second crop planted after the first crop has reached its reproductive stage but before it is ready for harvest.

2.4.2 Advantages of intercropping

Though intercropping is an old practice, it has various advantages in the current agricultural practices. It enables wise use of resources and increases the amount of harvested yield through diversifying diet by using legumes that further improve soil fertility by adding nitrogen to the soil (Tadele, 2017). Besides, crops yield increase with intercropping results from higher growth rate, reduction of weeds, pests and diseases and more effective use of resources than sole cropping (Mousavi and Eskandari, 2011; Verma *et al.*, 2014). In their intercropping haricot bean with stevia research report, Lulie and Bogale (2014) have showed higher land equivalent ratio and monetary advantage index indicating the practice of intercropping was more advantageous than the conventional monoculture crop. Mousavi and Eskandari (2011) indicated more weed, insect, and disease problems in pure cropping than intercropping that might be due to the reduction of the appearance of crop plants to pests. The most common advantages of intercropping were described below.

2.4.2.1 Crop yield

A crop yield is a measurement of the amount of agricultural production harvested per unit of land area. Increment and stability of the agricultural yield, that might result from area expansion and crop productivity improvement, are very important in order to provide nutritional needs of the growing world population. Intercropping is one of the agronomic strategies that can be used in crop productivity improvement programs. Intercropping yield advantage might be the result of combined yields of component crops than producing a sole crop. Many intercropping findings showed yield advantages of intercrops than sole cropping. Heydari *et al.* (2016) reported a 65% yield improved in intercropping roselle with cowpea as compared to sole cropping.

In their studies, Raei *et al.* (2015) reported the yield advantage of intercropping potato with green bean. In addition, Bantie (2014) reported the possibility of getting higher productivity from intercropping maize with potato. A total marketable yield of root vegetable carrot and root parsley obtained from intercropping with onion was greater than that from homogeneous cultivation (Blazewicz-Wozniak and Wach, 2011). Orluchukwu and Udensi (2013) also have reported better crop yield obtained in okra, maize, and pepper intercropping. Yield advantage of intercropping goes beyond getting a higher amount of agricultural crops produces per unit area.

Apart from obtaining higher yield, intercropping can be used as crop insurance in case of a crop failure due to climate change and other biotic or abiotic factors and intercropping enables farmers get better nutrition for their family (Workayehu, 2014). Furthermore, intercropping can be practiced in forage production. According to Stoltz and Nadeau (2014), intercropping maize with faba bean resulted in higher protein content compared to monocropped maize which can increase the sustainability of forage production by reducing the need for protein feed. Various factors could be considered with respect to an advantage of practicing intercropping for better yield. Complementary effects between intercropping components, reduction in pests, and effective utilization of resources were suggested as means of yield increment in intercropping.

Yield advantages of intercropping might be resulted from greater water use efficiency (Xu *et al.*, 2008) that might be because of variation in root system, that helps the uptake of moisture and nutrient from different soil depth (Li *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, it might be obtained from different branching and leaf patterns of intercrops for light interception as compared to sole crop (Mehdi *et al.*, 2015) and because of quick growing nature crop that may use available moisture which slow-growing crop may not able to use (Hugar and Palled, 2008; Verma *et al.*, 2014). On the other hand, yield advantage might be resulted as intercropping able to increase floral diversity which enhances abundance and diversity of beneficial insects such as pollinators and natural enemies of crop pests. According to Pereira *et al.* (2015), the richness and abundance of bees visiting pepper flowers was higher in pepper-basil intercropping than sole cropping. Hence, wider, heavier and longer fruits reported in the intercropping might be due to the attraction of pollinators in the intercropping system than sole cropping. Furthermore, intercropping productivity depends on careful variety selection, plant density, plant arrangement, growing

season and crop management practices like fertilizer rate and time of application, disease, insect and weed control practices, managing time and amount of irrigation (Lithourgidis *et al.*, 2011; Bantie, 2014; Kaushik and Sharma, 2017).

Desalegn and Fekadu (2012) stated the importance of crop variety selection in intercropping for better yield as potato varieties resulted in different yield in intercropping with maize. This might be either due to variation in yield potential of the varieties or their variation in response to intercrop competition. Beside, Rezaei-Chianeh *et al.* (2011) reported as biological and grain yields of maize and faba bean were significantly affected by maize and faba bean densities. Intercropping of onion with different population densities of rosemary affected fresh and dry bulb yield (Nigussie *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, mixed intercropping of maize with broad bean at a density of 100% resulted in better overall yield than sole culture of each crop species (Koocheki *et al.*, 2015). Similarly, the report of Raei *et al.* (2015) indicated that highest green bean and tuber potato yields were obtained by using higher population densities of both crops.

2.4.2.2 Monetary value

Another important advantage of intercropping can be seen from the amount of money gained from the current market prices of intercrops yields. Getting higher intercrops yield may not be beneficial unless produces changed to cash. On the other hand, monetary advantage can be obtained from either low-cost inputs utilization or reduction in the cost of practices like weeding and fertilizer in intercropping than sole cropping (Raei *et al.*, 2015; Nchanji *et al.*, 2016). Monetary advantages due to intercropping have been reported in various studies such as maize - soybean intercropping resulted in 3,408 USD ha⁻¹ (Zhang *et al.*, 2015) and wheat - chickpea intercropping resulted a highest gross return of Rs.54,099 (Kaushik and Sharma, 2017). Mehdi *et al.* (2015) reported that the highest economic performance of roselle intercropping with aloe vera was at a mean yield of 3.9 t ha⁻¹. In addition, intercropping maize with French bean (Hugar and Palled, 2008) and roselle with groundnut (Fbabatunde, 2003) also showed a better economic advantage over sole cropping. For instance, studies on maize intercropping with bush bean were found agronomical viable and economically profitable than the sole crop of maize (Ali *et al.* 2015). Similarly, Sarker *et al.* (2013) reported as the higher gross return was

obtained from all intercrop combinations of red amaranth, bush bean, and garden pea than sole maize and these short duration vegetables were encouraged for intercropping.

Preconditions stated for the higher intercrop yield may result in a monetary advantage in intercropping. For instance, proper crop variety, planting density, and arrangement that result in higher intercrop yield, may warranty monetary advantage as higher yield enables higher income. In the report by Fbabatunde (2003), the highest cash advantage was obtained from intercropping roselle with groundnut followed by intercropping with cowpea. Koocheki *et al.* (2015) indicated as maize-bean intercropping at 150% maize and 100% bean density resulted in higher income than other densities. Hugar and Palled (2008) indicated that gross and net income from intercropping maize with French bean under 1:2 row proportion showed higher compared to the rest of the crop combinations. Another monetary advantage of intercropping was proved from intercropping of wheat with chickpea in 2:2 row proportions (Kaushik and Sharma, 2017). According to Singh *et al.* (2016), growing intercrops in guava orchard resulted in highest gross income and net return. This enhances growers' income that might use to fulfill their household needs. In Ethiopia, various intercropping studies suggested opportunities of getting better income from intercropping practices (Agegnehu *et al.*, 2006; Bantie *et al.*, 2014; Tadsesse *et al.*, 2015).

According to Agegnehu *et al.* (2006), mixed intercropping of faba bean in normal barley culture at a density not less than 37.5% of the sole faba bean was indicated for better overall yield and income than a sole culture of each crop species. Similarly, Waktola *et al.* (2014) reported an increase in the monetary advantage of maize intercropping with soybean resulted from the increase in planting density of soybean. The authors indicated that the highest monetary advantage was obtained from 75% soybean planting density in the intercropping system. In addition, intercropping Arabica Coffee (*Coffea Arabica* L.) with Korerima (*Aframomum Korarima*) in southwestern Ethiopia was suggested for better economic return (Tadsesse *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, while Nigussie *et al.* (2017) reported the highest monetary advantage when onion intercropped with 80% rosemary planting density, Lulie *et al.* (2016) recommended 75% common bean planting density for better monetary advantage in intercropping with maize.

2.4.2.3 Control of crop pests

One of the important aspects of intercropping is its ability to reduce the negative effects of weeds, insect pest and disease. Weeds competition for light, water, nutrients, and space and affects crop production. However, intercropping is believed to reduce weed pressure (Bagheri et al., 2014). Intercropping studies resulted in lower weed biomass and populations in intercrops than sole crops (Orluchukwu and Udensi, 2013; Dereje et al., 2016). This might be due to improved use efficiency of growth resources of intercrops in the intercropping system (Yadollahi et al., 2014). Intercropping reduces available space for weed growth and forms higher shade that reduces germination, growth, and competitiveness of weeds than that of sole cropping (Rao, 2002). Santo et al. (2016) reported largely reduced weeds density and biomass in intercropping herbaceous legume lablab (Dolichos lablab) in a coffee plantation. According to Adevemi et al. (2014), intercropping of okra with amaranths was an effective means of reducing weed pressure in okra production. Besides, intercropping sorghum with groundnut was suggested for striga control (Dereje et al., 2016). This confirms the report of Odhiambo and Ariga (2001) which indicated a reduction in striga incidence in maize-beans intercropping. Further, maize - Okra pepper intercropping resulted in weed density and weed biomass reduction (Orluchukwu and Udensi, 2013). Moreover, Girma et al. (2005) reported as Orobanche weed was significantly reduced for tomato/maize and tomato/common bean intercropping as compared to tomato sole cropping. Reduction in weed pressure resulted from intercropping can reduce the cost of weed control that otherwise increases production cost. Apart from weed reduction, intercropping has positive effects in reducing insect and disease that negatively affect crop growth, yield, and quality.

Abdullah and Fouad (2016) reported faba bean and fenugreek intercropping reduced populations of black legume aphid of faba bean and increased seed yield. Similarly, aphid infestation was reduced in maize-pepper intercropping (Mitiku *et al.*, 2013). A significant result was reported from intercropping carrot with marigold on decreasing the number of roots damaged by the carrot rust fly, *Psila rosae*, and by nematodes and decreasing the number of larvae of carrot psyllid, *Trioza viridula* (Jankowska *et al.*, 2012). A tomato-basil intercropping advantage in reducing *Bemisia tabaci* infestation was reported (Mutisya *et al.*, 2016). Hence, intercropping

reduces production costs and dependency on pesticides by reducing the effects of insect pest in crop production. The importance of intercropping with respect to crop protection also goes with a reduction in disease. Mitiku *et al.* (2013) reported maize intercropping with pepper was effective in protecting pepper fields infection by potyvirus. Cultivation of different crop species together delays the onset of diseases by reducing the spread of disease-carrying spores and by modifying environmental conditions so that intercrops become less favorable to the spread of certain pathogens (Lithourgidis *et al.*, 2011). Disease reduction in the range of 20-40% was reported in intercropping legumes (pea, faba bean, and lupin) with barley (Hauggaard-Nielsen *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, Vieira *et al.* (2009) reported anthracnose and leaf spot reduction in common bean when intercropped with maize.

2.4.2.4 Improvement of soil fertility

Different aspects of intercropping with respect to soil fertility improvement have been reported. The most important aspect goes with the inclusion of legumes in intercropping particularly for atmospheric nitrogen fixation (Nurbakhsh et al., 2013; Pour et al., 2016). The inclusion of legume in intercropping contributes some nitrogen for the other crops in the intercropping which indirectly increase soil fertility by increasing amount of biological nitrogen fixation (Mousavi and Eskandari, 2011). Furthermore, findings of Lulie et al. (2016), conducted in Ethiopia, indicated as the level of nitrogen was increased under maize-common bean intercropping system and decreased in sole cropping. The other beneficial aspect of intercropping in soil fertility improvement includes an increase in crop residues from intercrops that might use as a source of fertilizer after decomposition (Peoples et al., 2009). Intercropping lemongrass and chamomile helped in ameliorating sodic soil (Patra et al., 2002). The authors indicated that lemongrass was tolerant because of its N⁺ exclusion and chamomile was tolerant because of its N⁺ accumulator. Besides, intercropping of crop plants having different rooting patterns permit greater exploitation of a larger volume of soil and improves access to relatively immobile nutrients (Hailu, 2015). This reduces competition for nutrient among intercrops and reduces soil nutrient exhaustion. Roselle and common bean have different rooting patterns and maturity periods and these can be taken as an advantage for intercropping practice.

Generally, intercropping increases crop productivity, enhances more monetary returns, reduces pest damages, improves soil fertility, provides lodging resistance, reduces risk of crop failure, and promotes biodiversity (Agegnehu *et al.*, 2006; Lithourgidis *et al.*, 2011; Khan *et al.*, 2013; Kaushik and Sharma, 2017). However, for a better utilization of intercropping system in a crop production, identification of suitable crop arrangement in that enables growers to get better economic yield and monetary advantages through better resources (land, labor, water, fertilizer, pesticide) utilization is important agronomic practice for resource-poor growers. Intercropping component crop in an additive series manner with a constant population of principal crop per unit area is one of the intercropping systems in resource optimization such as arable land.

2.4.3 Disadvantages of intercropping

Despite its various advantages, intercropping has some disadvantages compared to sole cropping. Reduction of yields of individual crops in intercropping, complexity of management activities, increase in labor demands and difficulty for mechanization are some of the disadvantages of intercropping (Gliessman, 1985; Ali *et al.*, 2015; Heydari *et al.*, 2016). This yield reduction could be resulted from competition for light, water, and nutrients and/ or due to allelopathic effects between intercrops. Furthermore, the complexity of crops management occurs when the different intercrops have different requirements for fertilizer and pesticides (Lithourgidis *et al.*, 2011). Besides, there might be a lodging problem in intercropping that makes harvesting difficult in addition to a risk of mixing up of products, an increase in cost separation of mixed yield, product loss and lack of market for the mixed products.

2.5 Effect of Intercropping on Growth, Yield and Yield Components of Roselle

Different studies indicated that intercropping influenced crops growth parameters as well as yield and yield components. The differences in growth and yield performances of crops in intercropping and sole cropping systems resulted from variation in crops densities (Mehdi *et al.*, 2015), spatial arrangements (Zhang *et al.*, 2015), and crop selection (Pushpa *et al.*, 2017), which might result increase in competition for resources or improve complementarities among crops particularly when legumes involved in the cropping system. Besides, complementary resource use might occur when crops vary in resource use, when crops have different rooting patterns and vary in growth duration (Lithourgidis *et al.*, 2011). Variation in performances of roselle has been reported among intercropping and sole cropping systems (Fadi and Gebauer, 2004; Mehdi *et al.*, 2015; Rigi *et al.*, 2017).

According to Mehdi et al. (2015), roselle intercropping with aloe vera resulted in significant variation in plant dry weight, stem diameter, number of capsule per plant, 100 seed weight, economic yield but did not affect plant height. According to the report, a combination of 25% roselle with 75% aloe vera resulted in an increase in stem diameter (23.3mm), a number of capsules per plant (364.5), and economic yield (3.9 ton/hectare) as compared to roselle sole cropping. But, a pure stand of roselle was high in stem diameter (15.6), capsule dry weight (26.5 ton/hectare), and harvest index (0.06%). Furthermore, Rigi et al. (2017) have reported significant variation in roselle yield from which maximum boll wet weight was obtained from 60% roselle + 20% peanut + 20% aloe vera crop combinations next to sole roselle cropping. According to Fadi and Gebauer (2004), roselle plant height (63.7cm), the number of leaves per plant (40.7), the number of capsule per plant (26.3), and yield were reduced significantly as compared to its sole cropping. However, roselle-cowpea intercropping resulted in significant increase in the number of roselle fruits per plant and dry sepals yield per plant compared with sole roselle planting system (Gendy et al., 2017). Besides, Pushpa et al. (2017) did concluded that intercropping influenced growth and yield of roselle as significantly shorter plant height was obtained from sole cropping (135.7cm) than both roselle-pigeon pea (144.9cm) and roselle-castor (147.6cm) intercropping. However, the authors have also indicated that, number of branches, plant spread, leaf dry weight, seed yield, and fresh and dry calyx yield of roselle were significantly reduced in intercropping. Egbutah et al. (2015) summarized that variations in growth and yield of roselle were observed in intercropping with cowpea and with groundnut. According to the report, higher significant results of 100 seed weight (3.51g and 3.86g), number of pods per plant (23.19 and 22.97) and dry calyx yield per hectare (84.32kg and 92.04kg) were obtained from roselle-cowpea and roselle groundnut intercropping systems, respectively. However, seed yield per plant (9.64g), number of seeds per pod (15.72) and harvest index (4.93%) recorded from sole roselle cropping were not significantly varied from roselle-cowpea intercropping but varied from those obtained from roselle-groundnut intercropping except harvest index.

2.6 Intercropping Performance of Roselle Based on Competition Indices

Various competition indices were used in evaluating the advantage of intercropping over sole cropping. According to Mead and Willey (1980) cited in Bantie *et al.* (2014), land equivalent ratio (LER) which indicates the efficiency of intercropping in using the resources of the environment compared, was one of the indices developed to evaluate intercropping performances and it was stated as intercropping is advantageous when values of LER is greater than one. Some studies also reported that intercropping roselle is advantageous than sole cropping. Gendy *et al.*, (2017) reported 1.252, 1.204, and 1.143 values of LER for intercropping roselle with cowpea. Furthermore, Pushpa *et al.* (2017) have reported 1.41 and 1.29 LER values for intercropping roselle with pigeon pea and castor, respectively.

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Description of the Study Area

The experiment was conducted in 2017/2018 cropping season (from September 2017 to March 2018) at Hawassa Green Mark Herb Research Station, in Southern Ethiopia. This study site is located at 7°05' North latitude, 39°29' East longitude and at an altitude of 1652 m a.s.l. It receives a bimodal rainfall with short and long rainy seasons from March to April and June to August, respectively and the average annual precipitation ranges from 1000 to 1800 mm. The minimum, mean and maximum temperatures of the area are 13, 20 and 27 °C, respectively. The soil textural class of the area is sandy loam with a pH of 7.2 (Dessie and Kleman, 2007). The agro-climatic condition of the area is warm sub-humid in which both food and cash crops are grown. Some of the common crops in the area include enset, maize, coffee, khat, banana, sugarcane and common bean. Maize and enset production for food as well as enset-coffee agroforestry farming system are largely practiced in the area.

3.2 Experimental Materials

Two roselle varieties (WG-Hibiscus-Sudan and WG-Hibiscus-Jamaica) and a common bean variety (Ibbado) were used for the study. Both roselle varieties were released recently by Wondo Genet Agricultural Research Center (WGARC) of the Ethiopian Institute of Agricultural Research (EIAR) and currently, they are being scaled up. Both roselle varieties are annual, erect and branching herbaceous sub-shrub type (Appendix Figures 1 & 2). They have alternate and green leaves with reddish veins, and deep tap roots, and grow well in a well-drained loamy soil. Common bean variety, Ibbado, is an improved type released in 2003 by Southern Agricultural Research Institute for warm sub-humid agroecology. It is a determinate bush type in growth habit, having 90-95 days of growth duration. It is grown in Hawassa and other areas with similar agroecologies in the southern region of Ethiopia.

3.3 Experimental Design and Treatment Arrangement

The treatments were arranged in factorial Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) with three replicates (Table 1). the experiment consisted of a total pf 11 treatments arrangement consist of a total of 11 treatments (2 roselle varieties \times 4 planting densities of common bean plus 3 sole plots). The size of each plot was 8.64 m² (3.6 m x 2.4m), and pathways between plots and blocks were 1 and 2 m, respectively. The total experimental area was 538.72 m² (14.8m x 36.4m). Six rows of roselle were maintained in each plot, with a spacing of 60 cm between rows and 30 cm between plants in a row, which resulted in 48 and 55,555 plants per experimental plot and per hectare have been used, respectively. Nine rows of common bean were maintained per plot and for sole and 100% common bean planting density, 40 cm spacing between rows and 10 cm between plants within a row were used. The different common bean densities (100%, 75%, 50% and 25%) were obtained by varying spacing between plants with in a row (i.e., 10, 13, 20 and 40 cm for 100%, 75%, 50% and 25% common bean planting densities, respectively). Both sole common bean and its 100% arrangement with roselle had 250,000 common bean plants per hectare while densities of 75%, 50%, and 25% had 187,500, 125,000 and 62,500 plants per hectare, respectively (Table 1).

Treatments	WG-Hibiscus-	WG-Hibiscus-	Common bean
	Sudan (Var 1)	Jamaica (Var 2)	CB)
1.Var 1 sole	55,555 (48)	-	-
2.Var2 sole	-	55,555 (48)	-
3. CB sole	-	-	250,000 (216)
4. Var 1 + 100% CB	55,555 (48)	-	250,000 (216)
5. Var 1 + 75% CB	55,555 (48)	-	187,500 (162)
6. Var 1 + 50% CB	55,555 (48)	-	125,000 (108)
7. Var 1 + 25% CB	55,555 (48)	-	62,500 (54)
8. Var 2 + 100% CB	-	55,555 (48)	250,000 (216)
9. Var 2 + 75% CB	-	55,555 (48)	187,500(162)
10. Var 2 + 50% CB	-	55,555 (48)	125,000 (108)
11. Var2 +25% CB	-	55,555 (48)	62,500 (54)

Table 1. Treatments and corresponding roselle and common bean planting densities (number of plants per hectare and plot; figures in the bracket indicate number of plants per plot).

3.4 Experimental Procedures and Methods of Data Collection

3.4.1 Management practices

The experimental land was prepared and uniformly labeled in September 2017. Seeds of roselle and common bean for the experiment were obtained from Wondo Genet Agricultural Research Center and Hawassa Maize Research Sub-Center, respectively. Seeds of both crops were subjected to germination test to check their viability prior to sowing. After verifying germination capacity seeds of each crop were sown in separate rows (Appendix Figure 3). For roselle, four seeds were sown per planting hole in September 2017, followed by thinning to one plant per hole two weeks after emergence. Two seeds per hole of common bean were sown in October 2017, 30 days after roselle and thinned to one plant per hole just two weeks after emergence. Irrigation was applied carefully at 2-3 days interval and during the experimental period, hand weeding was done uniformly at the same time for all experimental plots after collecting the necessary. No fertilizer and no other chemical inputs were applied throughout the experimental period.
3.4.2 Data collection

3.4.2.1 Roselle

Phenology:

Days to 50% flowering: It was recorded by counting the number of days from sowing to 50% of the plants in plot started flowering.

Days to maturity: It was recorded by counting the number of days from sowing till 95% of the plants in the plot became yellow and the lowest capsules on the stem were about to split open.

Yield and yield components:

Plant height (cm): It was recorded by measuring from the base (root collar) to the top of five randomly selected central plants of the central rows of each plot at harvesting stage using measuring tape (model XB-089) and the average value was used for analysis.

Number of primary branches per plant: It was recorded by counting all primary branches on five randomly selected central plants of the central rows.

Number of capsules per plant: It was recorded by counting all capsules available on the five selected sample plants.

Seed yield per plant (g): It was measured using sensitive balance after harvesting seeds from the five sampled plants. The harvested seeds were sun dried until a constant weight was achieved.

Fresh calyx yield per plot (g): It was recorded from plants harvested from the net area of each plot (i.e., excluding border rows and plants) and weighing calyx using digital balance (model YP20002). Harvesting was done by detaching capsules by hand (Appendix Figure 4) when the majority of the lower capsules started to crack at their tips.

Dry calyx yield per plot (g): It was recorded for sun dried fresh calyx yield per plot (which was harvest from net plot area by excluding border rows and plants) using digital balance (model YP20002) until a constant weight was achieved (Appendix Figure 5).

Calyx yield per hectare (ton): It was recorded by converting the values of calyx yield per plot to per hectare and both fresh and dry calyx yields per plot were converted to hectare for analysis.

1000 seed weight (g): A sample of 1000 seeds was taken from the seeds harvested from the whole central plants in the middle rows of each plot and weighed to determine 1000 seeds weight.

Fresh and dry aboveground biomass weight per plant (g): Fresh aboveground biomass per plant was recorded at harvesting for randomly selected five central plants of each plot by cutting from the base of the plant, chopping into manageable size and finally weighing the samples by using digital balance (model YP20002). Dry aboveground biomass weight per plant was measured after oven drying of the fresh samples at 70 °C using digital balance until a constant weight was achieved.

Fresh and dry aboveground biomass weight per hectare (ton): Both fresh and dry aboveground biomass weight per plant were converted into fresh and dry aboveground biomass yield per hectare for analysis, respectively.

Harvest index: Harvest index was calculated by dividing dry calyx yield to dry aboveground biomass as described by Atta *et al.* (2010).

3.4.2.2 Common bean

Phenological data:

Days to flowering: It was recorded by counting the number of days from sowing to 50% of the plants in a plot started flowering.

Days to Maturity: It was recorded by counting number of days taken from sowing to 50% of the plants in the plot started changing their leaves and pods to yellow color.

Yield and yield components:

Plant height (cm): It was recorded by measuring height from base (root collar) to top of the five randomly selected central plants at harvesting stage using measuring tape (model XB-089) and the average value was used for analysis.

Number of pod per plant: It was recorded by counting the number of pods produced by the five central plants of the middle rows selected at random from each plot and the average value was used for analysis.

Seed number per pod: It was recorded by counting number of pods in each pod of ten randomly selected pods from the five central plants selected at random from each plot.

Seeds yield per plot (g): It was recorded after weighing seeds of the whole central plants (by excluding the border rows and plants) using digital balance (model YP 20002) and after the seeds were adjusted to 10% moisture content using a digital moisture tester (model M-3G) according to the following formula (Hellevang, 1995). Then, seed yield per plot was converted into seed yield per hectare which was used for analysis.

Adjusted yield = [(100-AM)/(100-SM)] X Obtained yield

Where, A M = actual moisture and SM =standard moisture

1000 seed weight (g): It was recorded by weighing a sample of 1000 seeds randomly taken from the whole central plants of each plot.

Aboveground biomass per plant (g): Fresh aboveground biomass per plant was recorded for the five sample plants of each plot by cutting from the base of plants, chopping into manageable size for weighing and finally weighing the samples by using digital balance (model YP20002). Dry aboveground biomass per plant was recorded after a freshly weighed sample was subjected to over drying at 70 °C to constant weight.

Aboveground biomass per hectare (ton): Both fresh and dry aboveground biomass weight per plant were converted into fresh and dry aboveground biomass weight per hectare for analysis respectively.

3.4.2.3 Weed data:

Visual rating of weed ground coverage, weed density, and weed aboveground biomass were recorded and analyzed to evaluate the effect of roselle intercropping with different common bean planting densities on weed growth. Estimation of visual rating of weed infestation was done for each plot using 1-6 scale, where 1 = 0.5% weed cover, 2 = 6.25% weed cover, 3 = 26.50% weed cover, 4 = 51.75% weed cover, 5 = 76.95% weed cover and 6 = 96.100% weed cover following the method developed by Subramanian *et al.* (1991) as cited by Orluchukwu and Udensi (2013). This was done twice during the experimental period (first weeding was done at 30 days after common bean planting and second weeding was done 30 days after the first weeding) and the average values per plot were used for analysis.

Weed density (plant/m²) was also estimated twice during the experimental period at a similar time with that of visual rating of weed infestation by counting plants of each weed species observed in the net area of each plot and by converting the observed total number of weeds per net area of each plot to m². The average values of the two measurements per plot were calculated and converted into weed density per m².

Fresh aboveground weed biomass weight (g) in the net area of each plot was measured by weighing it using digital balance (model YP20002) and then oven drying at 70 °C until constant weight achieved to record the dry biomass weight (Prasad *et al.*, 2015). Finally, the dry weed biomass values were converted to m^2 for analysis.

3.4.2.4 Indices of intercropping competition

Land equivalent ratio (LER): The yield advantage of roselle and common bean intercropping was determined by calculating LER, which is the amount of land required under sole cropping to obtain the same yield as produced in the intercrop (Mead and Willey, 1980) as cited by Bantie *et al.* (2014). When LER measures 1.0 or greater than 1.0, it means that an intercropping is more advantageous than sole cropping in utilizing resources. Hence, the effectiveness of roselle and common bean intercropping for using available resources was evaluated using the following formula.

LER = (YRI/YRP) + (YCBI/YCBP), Where, YRI = Calyx yield of roselle under intercropping, YCBI = Seed yield of common bean under intercropping, YRP = Calyx yield of roselle in sole cropping, and YCBP = Seed yield of common bean in sole cropping. **Monetary advantage index (MAI):** The yields of both roselle and common bean crops in intercropping and sole cropping systems and their economic returns in terms of monetary value were evaluated by calculating MAI to check whether intercropping or sole cropping of roselle and common bean is profitable or not.

MAI= [(PR*YRI) + (PCB*YCBI)]*((LER-1)/LER), where, PR = Price of roselle calyx yield and PCB = Price of common bean seed yield.

Local market prices of a kg of dry calyx of roselle and a kg of common bean seed were used for monetary advantage determination. The average prices for a kg of a dry calyx of roselle (70 ETB) and common bean (11 ETB) were taken from local markets in Hawassa and Shashamane towns.

3.5 Data Analysis

All data collected were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) using SAS software version 9.3. Whenever the ANOVA indicated the presence of significant variations between treatments, mean separation was done using Duncan's Multiple Range Test at 5% probability level [CR (0.05)] to indicate the minimum difference between mean values under comparison for the variation to be significant or not.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSION

4.1 Responses Roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa L.) to Intercropping

4.1.1 Phenological and growth responses

4.1.1.1 Days to 50% flowering and days to maturity

Analysis of variance showed that the interaction of roselle varieties and common bean planting densities on for phenological responses of roselle was nonsignificant (P > 0.05) (Appendix Table 1). However, both days to 50% flowering and maturity were significantly ($P \le 0.001$) affected by roselle variety (Appendix Table 1) where Jamaica type more mean days to flower (145 days) and mature (180 days) as compared to Sudan type that took 123 days to flower and 151 days to mature (Table 2). It was reported that the Jamaica type roselle variety showed an indeterminate type of maturity and a higher cost of production in Ethiopia as compared to the Sudan type (Girma *et al.*, 2014a). These results are similar with that of Satyanarayana *et al.* (2018), indicating variation among roselle genotypes evaluated in India for days to flowering, which was found to vary. Significant variation in phenology might be resulted due to the genetic difference between the roselle varieties.

However, the effect of planting density of common bean on days to 50% flowering and maturity of roselle was not significant was not significant (P > 0.05) (Appendix Table 1). This could be due to the higher competitive ability of roselle during its vegetative growth stage. The time interval between sowing roselle and common bean has also not significantly contributed to this. Lulie *et al.* (2016) reported similar findings for maize intercopped with common bean.

On the other hand, cropping system significantly affected days to maturity ($P \le 0.05$), where intercropping resulted in more days to maturity, but it did not affect days to flowering (P > 0.05) (Appendix Table 1). The longer maturity period of roselle at with intercropping might be due to the contribution of common bean to fix nitrogen into the soil which could extend vegetative growth period of the plants.

Table 2. Mean performance of phenological and growth parameters of two roselle varieties grown with sole cropping and intercropping systems with different common bean planting densities at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.

Treatments	Days to 50% flowering	Days to maturity	Plant height (cm)	Branches number per plant
Roselle Variety				
Hibiscus-Jamaica	145.00 ^a	180.00 ^a	83.21ª	20.58 ^a
Hibiscus-Sudan	123.33 ^b	151.33 ^b	70.53 ^b	13.45 ^b
CR(0.05)	0.89	0.54	11.11	3.20
Common Bean Planti	ng Density			
100%	134.33	165.67	72.88	14.85
75%	134.33	165.67	76.13	15.03
50%	134.00	165.67	78.47	18.92
25%	134.00	165.67	80.00	19.27
CR(0.05)	NS	NS	NS	NS
CV	0.76	0.37	16.6	21.8
Cropping System				
Sole cropping	133.33	165.00 ^b	83.55	19.97
Intercropping	134.17	165.67 ^a	76.87	17.02
CR(0.05)	NS	0.53	NS	NS
CV	0.79	0.34	14.86	21.8
Variety*Planting	NS	NS	NS	NS
Density				

NS = not significant; CV = Coefficient of variance; CR = Critical range; Means followed by the same letters with in a column for a given treatment are not significantly different at $p \le 5\%$ level of significance

4.1.1.2 Plant height

Analysis of variance showed that the interaction between the main factors did not affect roselle plant height (P > 0.05) (Appendix Table 1). Plant height was significantly affected by roselle variety (P \leq 0.05), but not by common bean planting density and cropping system (P > 0.05). The tallest plant (83.21 cm) was observed for variety Hibiscus-Jamaica and the shortest (70.53 cm) was for Hibiscus-Sudan (Table 2). The findings of Girma *et al.* (2014a) and Gebremedin (2015) also showed variation in growth, yield, and yield components of the two roselle varieties indicating longer maturity period and higher yield and yield components for Jamaica type. Hence, the differences in plant obtained might be due to differences in genetic makeup of the two varieties.

The nonsignificant effect of common bean planting density and cropping system on roselle plant height might be due to lower competition for growth resources exerted from the component crop at vegetative growth stages. It might be also due to variations in competitive ability of the crops because of differences in their morphology, which could improve efficiency in resource use. Besides, common bean was seeded after roselle seeds were germinated and seedlings established well and this might be an opportunity in roselle to be more competent and use available resources such as nutrient and moisture before the common bean became strong enough for competition. Similarly, reports of intercropping faba bean with barley (Agegnehu et al., 2006), maize with common bean (Lulie et al., 2016) and onion with rosemary (Nigussie et al., 2017) in Ethiopia showed that planting density did not affect plant height of barley, maize, and onion respectively. However, at 100% mixture of component crop, height of the principal crop was reduced, which was in agreement with the report of Lulie et al. (2016), but quite contrary to the reports of Agegnehu et al. (2006) and Nigussie et al. (2017). On the other hand, the non significant difference between sole cropping and intercropping for plant height was similar with the results obtained from onion intercropped with rosemary (Nigussie et al., 2017) and maize intercropped with red amaranths, bush bean, and garden pea (Sarker et al., 2013). On the contrary, Fadi and Gebauer (2004) reported significantly higher roselle plant height (67.1cm) in sole cropping than in intercropping (63.7cm) with Acacia senegal probably because of strong competition exerted by Acacia senegal.

4.1.1.3 Number of primary branches per plant

Analysis of variance showed that interaction of roselle varieties and common bean planting densities did not affected roselle number of primary branches per plant (P > 0.05) (Appendix Table 1). It was observed that the number of primary branches was affected by roselle variety (P

 \leq 0.001), but not by common bean planting density and cropping system (P > 0.05). Highest mean value of primary branches per plant (20.58) was obtained from Hibiscus-Jamaica compared to the value obtained from Hibiscus-Sudan (13.45) (Table 2). It has been reported that the two roselle varieties varied in phenological characteristics (flowering and maturity period), growth, and yield (Girma *et al.*, 2014a; Gebremedin, 2015) and branches number. The variation between the two roselle varieties might be due to their genetic difference (Satyanarayana *et al.*, 2018). Lack of significant difference in number of primary branches due to common bean planting density might be due to higher competitive ability of roselle for growth resources as roselle varieties were established well before common bean.

Similarly, the nonsignificant effect of common bean intercropping on number of roselle branches may indicate less competition between the two crops or a positive effect of common bean on roselle branch growth. It seems that efficient utilization of sunlight and nutrients by intercrops that could be important for formation of axillury buds and for their differentiations leading to branching without adversely affecting number of branches per plant. This might be due to variation in below and above ground morphology of the two crops that could contribute in reducing competition for resources. On the other hand, lack of significant difference between cropping systems might be due to the mixture of the legume component crop, common bean, which might lower competition for nitrogen with roselle in the intercropping. This result was in agreement with the report of Pushpa *et al.* (2017), which showed statistically nonsignificant difference in roselle branch number for sole cropping (14.8) and intercropping (13.8) with pigeon pea.

4.1.2 Yield and yield components

4.1.2.1 Number of capsules per plant

ANOVA showed as interaction of main factors was nonsignificant (P > 0.05) for roselle number of capsules per plant which was significantly affected by variety (P \leq 0.001), whereas neither the effect of common bean planting density nor cropping system (P > 0.05) was significant (Appendix Table 1). Accordingly, Hibiscus-Jamaica produced the highest mean capsule number per plant (46.15), while Hibiscus-Sudan had the lowest value (33.41) (Table 3). Similarly, Gebremedin (2015) has reported significantly higher number of capsules per plant for Hibiscus-Jamaica than for Hibiscus-Sudan. This difference in capsule number per plant might be due to differences in plant height and branch number between the two roselle varieties, as the shorter and less branched variety (i.e., Hibiscus-Sudan) had lower capsule number per plant. Similar to the differences in growth parameters between the two roselle varieties, significant variation in capsule number also showed a clear genetic difference between the varieties. On the other hand, common bean planting density did not affect number of capsules per plant of roselle, which might probably be due to higher competitive ability of both roselle varieties during vegetative growth.

The effect of cropping system on capsules number per plant was not significant (P > 0.05) (Appendix Table 1). Statistically similar mean value was obtained from sole (42.69) and intercropping (39.28) (Table 3). In the mixture with roselle, common bean might have contributed nitrogen, which reduced competition for this nutrient. Furthermore, variation in root system of roselle and common bean, and a higher canopy structure of roselle might have favored roselle plants to be more competent for resources such as nutrient, moisture and light.

4.1.2.2 Seed yield per plant

Although the interaction between the main factors was nonsignificant, variety ($P \le 0.001$) as well as both planting density and cropping system significantly affected roselle seed yield per plant ($P \le 0.05$) (Appendix Table 1). The highest seed yield per plant (48.38g) was obtained from Hibiscus-Jamaica, whereas the lowest value (38.41g) was from Hibiscus-Sudan (Table 3). This was in agreement with the report of Gebremedin (2015), which indicated higher seed yield from Hibiscus-Jamaica. Hibiscus-Jamaica which is characterized by taller plants, and more number of branches and capsules. Hence, higher seed yield per plant of this variety could be due to its higher growth and yield performances compared to Hibiscus-Sudan. Roselle seed yields per plant at 25% and 50% planting density were statistically equal and significantly higher than statistically at par yields at 75 and 100% planting density (Table 3). The lower roselle seed yield per plant obtained for higher planting densities could be due to competition for resources, such as phosphorus which is also important for common bean seed formation and development during intercropping (Okosun *et al*, 2006). Besides, it might also be resulted from more competition, as more number of plants per unit area need more resources than does less plant population densities on the same land area for seed formation and development.

Sole cropping significantly resulted in higher seed yield per plant (52.04g), than did intercropping (43.39g) (Table 3). The possible reason for higher seed yield per plant of roselle in sole cropping might be due to lack of intercrop competition for resources (Okosun *et al*, 2006). The result of the present study was in agreement with the report of Pushpa *et al*. (2017), observed who indicated significantly higher roselle seed yield per plant for sole than for roselle-castor and roselle-pigeon intercropping.

4.1.2.3 Thousand seed weight

Analysis of variance revealed that interaction of the main effects, planting density, and cropping system did not significantly affect thousand seed weight of roselle (P > 0.05), which was significantly affected by roselle variety (P \leq 0.001) (Appendix Table 1). The highest mean thousand seed weight was obtained from Hibiscus-Sudan (32.57g) and the lowest from Hibiscus-Jamaica (29.62 g) (Table 3). Gebremedin (2015) has also reported higher thousand seed weight of Hibiscus-Sudan and than that of Hibiscus-Jamaica. The higher 1000 seed weight could be due to higher seed size of the variety, while Hibiscus - Jamaica has small sized seeds.

Treatment	NCPP	SYPP (g)	TSW (g)
Roselle Variety			
Hibiscus-Jamaica	46.15 ^a	48.38 ^a	29.62 ^b
Hibiscus-Sudan	33.41 ^b	38.41 ^b	32.57 ^a
CR(0.05)	5.43	3.85	1.30
Common Bean Planting Density			
100%	36.50	39.27 ^b	31.00
75%	39.48	40.65 ^b	31.19
50%	40.36	47.05 ^a	31.00
25%	40.78	46.60 ^a	31.18
CR(0.05)	NS	5.44	NS
CV	15.78	10.13	4.79
Cropping System			
Sole cropping	42.69	52.04 ^a	31.12
Intercropping	39.28	43.39 ^b	31.09
CR(0.05)	NS	4.94	NS
CV	13.85	11.63	4.94
Variety*Planting Density	NS	NS	NS

Table 3. Mean capsules number per plant, seed yield per plant, and thousand seed weight of two roselle varieties grown in sole cropping and intercropping with different common bean planting densities at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.

NS=not significant; CV=Coefficient of variance; CR= Critical range; NCPP=Number of capsules per plant, SYPP=Seed yield per plant; TSW=Thousand seed weight. Means followed by the same letters with in a column for a given treatment are not significantly different at $P \le 5\%$ level of significance.

4.1.2.4 Fresh and dry calyx yield per hectare

ANOVA result showed as interaction of the main factors did not significantly influence roselle calyx yield per hectare (P > 0.05) (Appendix Table 2). However, both fresh and dry calyx yields per hectare of roselle were significantly influenced by roselle variety (P \leq 0.001), common bean planting density and cropping system (P \leq 0.05). Hibiscus-Jamaica was found to be superior and produced 4.99 ton ha⁻¹fresh and 0.92 ton ha⁻¹dry calyx yield compared to Hibiscus-Sudan, which produced 3.98 ton ha⁻¹fresh and 0.68 ton ha⁻¹dry calyx yield (Table 4). The higher growth and

yield attributes of Hibiscus-Jamaica might be the main reason for its higher calyx yield. In their studies, Ahmed *et al.* (2009) recommended late maturing roselle varieties and those varieties having higher number of branches per plant for higher calyx yield. Besides, the present finding was also similar with the report of Gebremedin (2015), which showed significantly higher fresh and dry calyx yields per hectare for Hibiscus-Jamaica and lower calyx yield for Hibiscus-Sudan variety.

Compared to other common bean planting densities, higher dry calyx yield per hectare was obtained from 25% and 50% common bean planting density (0.88 and 0.83 ton ha⁻¹, respectively) than from 75% and 100% common bean planting density (0.75 and 0.74 ton ha⁻¹, respectively) (Table 4). As planting density increased, in general, there was decreasing trend in calyx yield (Table 4). It seems that common bean at a higher planting density was more competent for nutrients that might be important for roselle calyx development.

As compared to intercropping, sole cropping resulted in higher fresh (5.40 ton ha⁻¹) and dry (0.91 ton ha⁻¹) calyx yield of roselle (Table 4). This might be due to strong competition between common bean and roselle plants for mineral nutrients that could be important for roselle calyx development. The finding of the present study was in line with the report of Fadi and Gebauer (2004), who concluded that sole cropping results in higher roselle calyx yield than intercropping yield. Besides, the findings of Babatunde *et al.* (2002) indicated that roselle calyx yield was more declined when grown in association with cereals such as millet and sorghum.

4.1.2.5 Aboveground fresh and dry biomass yield per hectare

Result of the analysis of variance showed that interaction of the main factors was nonsignificant (p > 0.05) (Appendix Table 2). It was observed that fresh and dry aboveground biomass yield were significantly ($P \le 0.001$ and $P \le 0.05$, respectively) affected by the main factor variety. On the other hand, planting density and cropping system didn't have significant effect (P > 0.05) on both fresh and dry aboveground biomass of roselle. The highest fresh and dry biomass yields (17.87 and 2.96 ton ha⁻¹, respectively) were obtained from Hibiscus-Jamaica, while Hibiscus-Sudan produced lowest amounts (14.54 and 2.52 ton ha⁻¹, respectively) (Table 4). The superior performance of hibiscus-Jamaica in aboveground biomass yield might be due to increased plant

height and more number of branches per plant. Besides, genetic difference of the varieties might have greater contribution for the variation.

On the other hand, the nonsignificant effects of planting density and cropping system might be due to higher competitive ability of roselle for growth resources during its vegetative growth stage, as it was seeded first and established well before component crop (common bean). Besides, its tap root nature that might have helped to use mineral nutrients from different soil depth, taller the plant height and more number of branches per plant might have favored roselle in light utilization while lowering the effects of common bean. In line with this, Agegnehu *et al.* (2006) have reported statistically similar barley biological yield as faba bean density increased from 12.5% to 62.5%. Besides, Lulie *et al.* (2016) have also reported that common bean planting density did not show significant variation for maize aboveground biomass yield.

4.1.2.6 Harvest index

Analysis of variance showed that harvest index of roselle was significantly affected ($p \le 0.05$) by variety, but it was not affected ($p \ge 0.05$) by planting density, interaction between main factors, and cropping system (Appendix Table 2). Higher harvest index (0.32) was obtained for Hibiscus-Jamaica than for Hibiscus-Sudan (0.27) (Table 4). This might be due to the differences in growth, yield, and yield components of the two roselle genotypes. Besides, similar values of harvest index for sole cropping and intercropping were consistent with the report of Lulie *et al.* (2016), who stated nonsignificant difference for maize harvest index in maize-common bean intercropping. This might be due to the nonsignificant effect of cropping system on the aboveground biomass weight of roselle.

Treatment	FCY	DCY	FAB	DAB	Harvest Index	
	(ton ha ⁻¹)	(ton ha ⁻¹)	(ton ha ⁻¹	(ton ha ⁻¹)	(%)	
Roselle Variety						
Hibiscus-Jamaica	4.99 ^a	0.92ª	17.87 ^a	2.96 ^a	0.32ª	
Hibiscus-Sudan	3.98 ^b	0.68 ^b	14.54 ^b	2.52 ^b	0.27 ^b	
CR(0.05)	0.40	0.06	1.42	0.35	0.04	
Common Bean Planting Density						
100%	3.88 ^b	0.74 ^c	15.52	2.65	0.29	
75%	4.09 ^b	0.75 ^{bc}	16.37	2.72	0.27	
50%	5.00 ^a	0.83 ^{ab}	16.44	2.74	0.30	
25%	4.97 ^a	0.88 ^a	16.49	2.85	0.31	
CR(0.05)	0.57	0.09	NS	NS	NS	
CV	10.30	8.79	10	14.76	16.06	
Cropping System						
Sole cropping	5.40 ^a	0.91 ^a	16.88	2.86	0.32	
Intercropping	4.48 ^b	0.80 ^b	16.21	2.74	0.29	
CR(0.05)	0.67	0.09	NS	NS	NS	
CV	15.32	11.76	8.24	12.22	14.45	
Variety*Planting Density	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	

Table 4. Mean of fresh and dry calyces yield, fresh and dry above ground biomass yield, and harvest index of two roselle varieties grown in sole cropping and intercropping with different common bean planting densities at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.

NS=not significant; CV=Coefficient of variance; CR = Critical range; FCY=Fresh calyx yield; DCY=Dry calyx yield; FAB=Fresh above ground biomass yield; and DAB= Dry above ground biomass yield. Means followed by the same letters with in a column for a given treatment are not significantly different at $p \le 5\%$ level of significance.

4.2 Common Bean Responses to Intercropping

4.2.1 Phenological and growth responses

4.2.1.1 Days to 50% flowering and days to maturity

Analysis of variance showed as interaction of the main factors was nonsignificant (P > 0.05) for days to 50% flowering and days to maturity of common bean (Appendix Table 3). Besides, the effect of roselle varieties on days to 50% flowering was also not significant (p > 0.05). However, both common bean planting density and cropping system significantly affected (P \leq 0.05) days to 50% flowering of common bean plants. More days to flowering (63.33 days) was observed for 100% common bean density (Table 5). This was probably due to higher competition for light that forces the crop to maintain vertical growth while prolonging its flowering time. In consistent with the present result, Lulie *et al.* (2016) have indicated significant longer flowering periods of common bean at 100% planting density in maize-common bean intercropping.

Flowering took longer time (63.67 days) in sole common bean plots than in the plots intercropped with roselle ((Table 5). This might be due to lack of intercrop competition for resources. Space, nutrient, and light limitations might have cause early flowering in intercropped plots instead of allowing more time for vegetative growth, as the case with sole cropping. Similarly, Alemayehu *et al.* (2018) reported that number of days to 50% flowering was significantly reduced with intercropping common bean variety (Ibbado) with maize compared to Ibbado sole cropping. Reduction in days to 50% flowering might be due to delay in plating time of common bean, as plants emerged earlier might have resulted in strong competition for growth resources, mainly soil moisture and light.

It was observed that days to maturity of common bean was significantly ($P \le 0.001$) affected by roselle varieties, but the effects of common bean planting density and cropping system were not significant (P > 0.05) (Appendix Table 3). Intercropping common bean with roselle variety Hibiscus-Jamaica shortened its maturity period (96.75 days) compared to maturity period at intercropping with roselle variety Hibiscus-Sudan (100 days). The shorter maturity period might

be due to higher rate of vegetative growth of the Jamaica type roselle variety that makes roselle more competitor for growth resources.

4.2.1.2 Plant height

Results of the analysis of variance showed that common bean plant height was not significantly affected by interaction of the main factors or by common bean planting density (P > 0.05), but, it was affected by roselle variety ($P \le 0.01$) and cropping system ($P \le 0.001$) (Appendix Table 3). The highest mean plant height (51.33cm) of common bean was obtained for intercropping with Hibiscus-Sudan and the lowest value (40.19cm) for intercropping with Hibiscus-Jamaica (Table 5). This could be due to the difference between roselle varieties in competing for resources like light, water, and nutrients. Due to its higher rate vegetative growth and more days of maturity, Hibiscus-Jamaica might have influenced the growth of common bean compared to the effect of Hibiscus-Sudan. The higher numerical plant height value (50.33 cm) was recorded for 25% and lower values (41.93 cm) for 100% planting density of common bean. The higher numerical value for 25% planting density might be due to low resources competition. Sole common bean cropping resulted in 69.27cm plant height, while intercropping with roselle resulted in shorter plants (45.76cm) (Table 5). Lack of intercrop competition at common bean sole cropping could be the possible reason for the crop to growth more in height. Similarly, Jerai et al. (2010) also have reported higher chick pea height with sole cropping and shorter plants under intercropping with mustard. However, report of Pushpa et al. (2017) indicated that cropping system resulted in no significant difference for pigeon pea height in intercropping with roselle. They have further elaborated that lack of difference could be due to fertilizer applied in pigeon pea-roselle intercropping that might have lowered intercrop competition, unlike the result of the present study, where fertilizer was not applied.

Treatment	Days to 50%	Days to	Plant height	
	flowering	maturity	(cm)	
Roselle Variety				
Hibiscus-Jamaica	62.17	96.75 ^b	40.19 ^b	
Hibiscus-Sudan	62.50	100.00 ^a	51.33ª	
CR(0.05)	NS	1.19	7.93	
Common Bean Planting Density				
100%	63.33ª	97.50	41.93	
75%	62.67 ^{ab}	98.33	41.87	
50%	61.67 ^b	98.33	45.90	
25%	61.67 ^b	98.33	50.33	
CR(0.05)	1.34	NS	NS	
CV	1.73	1.39	19.78	
Cropping System				
Sole cropping	63.67 ^a	99.33	69.27ª	
Intercropping	61.33 ^b	98.37	45.76 ^b	
CR(0.05)	1.16	NS	10.52	
CV	1.96	1.46	22.14	
Variety*Planting Density	NS	NS	NS	

Table 5. Mean values of phenological and growth parameters of common bean grown in sole cropping and intercropping systems with two roselle varieties at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season

NS=not significant; CV=Coefficient of variance; CR= Critical range; Means in a column followed by the same letters are not significantly different at $P \le 5\%$ level of significance.

4.2.2 Yield components and seed yield

4.2.2.1 Number of pods per plant

ANOVA showed that number of pods per plant was not significantly affected by interaction of the main factors (P > 0.05), but it was significantly influenced by roselle varieties (P < 0.01), planting densities (P \leq 0.05), and the cropping system (P \leq 0.01) (Appendix Table 4). The higher significant value (28.17) was obtained for intercropping common bean with Hibiscus-Sudan and

the lower pods number per plant (17.36) at intercropping with Hibiscus-Jamaica (Table 6). Different varieties of a crop may respond differently to various growth resources. Probably, the variation in common bean number of pods per plant when intercropped with the two roselle varieties could be due to higher level competition exerted by the Hibiscus-Jamaica variety because of its higher rate of vegetative growth. It was similar with the report of Dahmardeh (2013) who indicated variation in peanut intercropped with different maize varieties. Furthermore, as common bean planting density increased from 25% to 100%, number of pods per plant declined from 28.92 to 16.03 (Table 6). The decline in pods number per plant at higher planting densities of common bean might be due to increased competition for growth resources as more plants per unit area need more resource. Besides, at higher common bean density there might also be higher competition between intercrops and between different parts of individual plants, leading to lower number of pods per plant. The decrease in pods number per plant at higher planting density was quite in agreement with the report of Alemayehu and Boki (2015) for their studies on common bean planting density.

The highest mean number of pods per plant (38) was obtained at sole cropping and the lowest value at intercropping common bean with roselle (22.76) (Table 6). When common bean and roselle were grown in association (intercropping), the intercrop competition might have adversely influenced the growth of common bean, which further affected pod formation and development. Besides, the time interval between planting of the two crops might have enhanced competition for growth resources. This result was in agreement with the report of Lulie *et al.* (2016), who reported significantly higher number of common bean pods per plant in sole cropped plots than in plots intercropped with maize. In addition, Jerai *et al.* (2010) have also reported higher number of chickpea pods per plant for sole cropping and lower value for intercropping with mustard.

4.2.2.2 Seed number per pod

Analysis of variance showed that common bean seed number per pod was significantly affected by both main factors (roselle variety and common bean planting density) ($P \le 0.05$), but their interaction as well as cropping system did not have significant effect (P > 0.05) (Appendix Table 4). Common bean seed number per pod was higher when intercropped with variety Hibiscus-Sudan (4.10) but lower with Hibiscus-Jamaica (3.58) (Table 6). This could be due to variations in morphological structure of roselle varieties which might have affected seed formation through enhanced competition and shading effects. Moreover, mean seed number per pod was significantly reduced from 4.27 to 3.47 as planting density of common bean increased from 25% to 100% (Table 6). This probably might be due to the fact that at higher planting density there might be higher level of competition for growth resources that might have reduced vegetative growth of plants. Hence, such reduced rate of vegetative growth as a result of lower amount of photosynthetic assimilate used for seed development might have reduced the amount seed number per pod of common bean.

4.2.2.3 Thousand seed weight

Analysis of variance showed that the main factors (roselle variety and common bean planting density), their interaction, and cropping system did not significantly affected common bean thousand seed weight (P>0.05) (Appendix Table 4). This might be due to efficient conversion of biological yield to economic yield which might have resulted from the ability of common bean in to partition or allocate more amount of the available photosynthetic assimilates by enhancing the linkage between source and sink during its grain filling stage. Similarly, Alemayehu and Boki (2015) have reported the non significant variation in seed weight of common bean due to planting densities.

4.2.2.4 Seed yield per hectare

Analysis of variance showed that unlike the nonsignificant result of interaction of main factors (P > 0.05), common bean seed yield per hectare was significant affected by the main effects of roselle variety and common bean planting density (P \leq 0.01) and by cropping system (P \leq 0.001) (Appendix Table 4). While the highest mean seed yield (2.17 ton ha ⁻¹) was obtained at intercropping with Hibiscus-Sudan, the lower mean seed yield (1.40 ton ha ⁻¹) was recorded at intercropping with Hibiscus-Jamaica (Table 6). The lower yield and yield attributes obtained at intercropping with Hibiscus-Jamaica, in the present study, clearly indicated the inappropriateness of the variety in cultivation practice in intercropping with common bean as compared to the

Hibiscus-Sudan. It could be due to difference in genetic character of the variety being more competent for resources because of its higher growth characteristics. Increase in common bean planting density enhanced its seed yield per hectare. The highest common bean seed yield (2.38 ton ha⁻¹) was obtained at 100% common bean planting density while the lowest yield (1.26 ton ha⁻¹) at 25% common bean planting density intercropped with roselle (Table 6). Possible reason why seed yield increased at higher density could be due to presence of higher number of common bean plants per hectare. The present finding was similar with the findings of Adafre (2016) and Lulie *et al.* (2016) who reported highest common bean seed yield at its 100% planting density when intercropped with maize and Raei *et al.* (2015) who stated higher green bean yield at higher its density intercropped with potato. Alemayehu and Boki (2015) obtained higher common bean seed yield per hectare at higher planting density compared to yield obtained from lower planting densities.

Furthermore, common bean sole cropping resulted in a higher seed yield (4.02 ton ha⁻¹) as compared to the lower yield (1.74 ton ha⁻¹) obtained at intercropping with roselle (Table 6). The intercrop competition for resources such as phosphorus (Girma *et al.*, 2014b) at intercropping could be the main reason for the yield difference recorded. Similarly, reports showed higher significant faba bean (Agegnehu *et al.*, 2006), common bean (Adafre, 2016; Lulie *et al.*, 2016), and soybean (Waktola *et al.*, 2014; Zhang *et al.*, 2015) seed yields per hectare at sole cropping than intercropping faba bean with barley, common bean with maize, and soybean with maize.

Treatment	Pod number	Seed number	Seed vield	TSW
	per plant	per pod	(ton ha^{-1})	(g)
Roselle Variety				
Hibiscus-Jamaica	17.36 ^b	3.58 ^b	1.40 ^b	288.92
Hibiscus-Sudan	28.17 ^a	4.10 ^a	2.17 ^a	288.24
CR(0.05)	7.40	0.40	0.44	NS
Common Bean Planting Density				
100%	16.03 ^c	3.47 ^b	2.38 ^a	288.02
75%	17.83 ^{bc}	3.67 ^b	2.04 ^{ab}	287.75
50%	28.27 ^{ab}	3.97 ^{ab}	1.46 ^{bc}	290.21
25%	28.92 ^a	4.27 ^a	1.26 ^c	288.24
CR(0.05)	10.47	0.56	0.62	NS
CV	37.15	11.84	28.19	15.97
Cropping System				
Sole cropping	38.00 ^a	4.00	4.02 ^a	290.15
Intercropping	22.76 ^b	3.84	1.74 ^b	288.85
CR(0.05)	8.46	NS	0.62	NS
CV	34.81	19.81	29.94	14.22
Variety*Planting Density	NS	NS	NS	NS

Table 6. Mean values of yield and yield components of common bean as affected by sole cropping and intercropping with two roselle varieties at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.

NS=not significant; CV=Coefficient of variance; CR= Critical range; TSW=Thousand seed weight. Means in a column followed by the same letters are not significantly different at $P \le 5\%$ level of significance.

4.2.2.5 Aboveground fresh and dry biomass yield per hectare



Figure 1. Mean values of fresh above ground biomass (FAB) and dry aboveground biomass (DAB) weights (ton/ha) of common bean as affected by roselle varieties at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.

Results of the analysis of variance showed nonsignificant effect of the interaction of main factors (P > 0.05) on common bean fresh and dry aboveground biomass yield, but both parameters were significantly affected by roselle variety (p < 0.01), by common bean planting density (P < 0.01), and by cropping system (p < 0.001) (Appendix Table 5). The higher values of aboveground fresh biomass (25.75 ton ha⁻¹) and dry biomass (2.52 ton ha⁻¹) of common bean were obtained for intercropping with variety Hibiscus-Sudan compared to the corresponding value for Hibiscus-Jamaica (14.79 ton ha⁻¹, and 1.71 ton ha⁻¹) (Figure 1). This might be due to difference between roselle genotypes in computing for growth resources because of their variation in growth characteristics. Hibiscus-Jamaica variety had more branches per plant which might have enhanced competition and shading effect on common bean in the intercropping. The shade effect might caused common bean grow with less vegetative parts such as branch, leaf, flower, and pod that could lower the aboveground biomass weight of the crop.



Figure 2. Mean values of fresh aboveground biomass (FAB) and dry aboveground biomass (DAB) weights (ton/ha) of common bean as affected by its planting densities at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.

Fresh and dry aboveground biomass weight per hectare increased from 11.62 ton to 30.58 ton and from 1.05 ton to 3.26 ton, respectively, as planting density of common bean increased from 25% to 100% (Figure 2). This might be due to higher number of plants per unit area. In line with this, Lulie *et al.* (2016) have reported increases in biomass weight of common bean as planting density increased in common bean-maize intercropping system. In addition, Alemayehu and Boki (2015) have reported higher common bean biomass yield for than for higher planting densities. Moreover, intercropping common bean with roselle declined fresh and dry above ground biomass of common bean by more than threefold compared to sole cropping (Figure 3). This indicated higher competitiveness of the roselle varieties grown in association with common bean, specially for light, water, and nutrients.



Figure 3. Mean values of fresh aboveground biomass (FAB) and dry aboveground biomass (DAB) weights (ton/ha) of common bean as affected by sole cropping and intercropping systems at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.

4.3 Effect of Roselle and Common Bean Intercropping on Weed Infestation

The effect of intercropping roselle varieties with different planting densities of common bean on weed infestation was evaluated by visual rating of weed ground cover at a scale of 1- 6, weed density, and aboveground weed biomass weight and the results are presented as follows.

4.3.1 Visual weed infestation rating (scale 1-6)

Weed ground cover, as visually rated on 1-6 scale, was significantly affected by common bean planting density ($P \le 0.01$) and cropping system ($P \le 0.001$), but the effect of roselle variety and interaction of main factors was not significant (P > 0.05) (Appendix Table 6). A mixture of common bean with 25% planting density resulted in significantly higher scale value for weed infestation (2.0) compared to other planting densities (Table 7). The higher visual scale value for weed infestation at lower common bean planting density might be due to availability of free spaces and resources, which favored the growth of weeds. Similarly, significantly higher values of visual weed infestation rating was recorded for sole cropping (2.5) than for intercropping (1.56) (Table 7). Higher free spaces and availability of more light in the sole cropping system due to lower canopy closure might have favored weed growth compared to the case in the intercropping system. It is also clear that, higher density of different crops in the intercropping

system competes for resources and, thereby, reduces weed germination and growth more than in sole cropping. Hence, weed germination and growth might be reduced when roselle grown in combination with common bean as compared to roselle sole cropping.

4.3.2 Weed density

Weed species density was recorded by counting number of weeds per net plot area of each plot and converted to m² for statistical analysis. Fifteen weed species were identified, among which broad leaved weeds were dominant (73%), followed by grassy weeds (20%) and sedges (7%) (Appendix Table 8). It was observed that both interaction of the main factors and roselle variety did not have significant effect on weed density (P > 0.05), however, it was significantly (p \leq 0.01) influenced by common bean planting density and cropping system (Appendix Table 6). Significantly (p \leq 0.01) the lowest weed density (7.19 count per m²) was observed for intercropping roselle with 100% common bean planting density, while the highest value (15.43 count per m²) was recorded for intercropping roselle with 25% common bean planting density (Table 7). This could be because of the fact that, in less populated crop stands, there is more free space that favors weed germination and growth than the closely populated crops. Besides, weeds might got more light at distantly populated crops due to lower canopy closure and became competitor in field. Hence, reduction in weed density at higher common bean planting density in the present study could be due to limitation of resources like space and light.

Besides, weed density was significantly ($p \le 0.01$) the highest for sole cropping (17.21 count per m²), while the lowest for intercropping (9.52 count per m²) (Table 7). The lower weed density in intercropping as compared to sole cropping might be due to inclusion of component crop (common bean) which enhances competition for growth resources. This was similar with the report of Odhiambo and Ariga (2001), which indicated that high populations of bean intercropped with maize reduced striga weed. The present finding was also similar with the report of Dejere *et al.* (2016) who concluded that intercropping sorghum with groundnut and soya bean reduced population density of striga weed. Besides, Prasad *et al.* (2015) have reported significant reduction in weed population for intercropping maize with cowpea than for sole maize. Furthermore, different reports showed the positive contributions of cultivating crops in association in reducing weed density, like the case of wheat-pea intercropping (Khan *et al.*,

2013), maize-bean intercropping (Chipomho *et al.*, 2015), and maize-faba bean intercropping (Stoltz and Nadeau, 2014).

Table 7. Mean values of visual weed infestation rating, weed density, and aboveground dry weed biomass as affected by in intercropping two roselle varieties with different planting density of common bean

Treatment	Visual weed infestation	Weed density	Aboveground dry
	rating (scale1-6)	$(count / m^2)$	weed biomass (g/m ²)
Roselle Variety			
Hibiscus-Jamaica	1.67	8.67	8.91
Hibiscus-Sudan	1.46	10.37	11.27
CR(0.05)	NS	NS	NS
Common Bean Planting De	ensity		
100%	1.17°	7.19 ^b	7.47 ^b
75%	1.50 ^{bc}	7.89 ^b	8.37 ^b
50%	1.58 ^b	7.56 ^b	11.19 ^{ab}
25%	2.00 ^a	15.43 ^a	13.34 ^a
CR(0.05)	0.36	4.27	4.35
CV	18.64	36.19	34.82
Cropping System			
Sole cropping	2.5ª	17.21 ^a	15.61ª
Intercropping	1.56 ^b	9.52 ^b	9.92 ^b
CR(0.05)	0.40	4.84	3.76
CV	24.27	46.47	36.10
Variety*Planting Density	NS	NS	NS

NS=not significant; CV=Coefficient of variance; CR= Critical range; Means in a column followed by the same letters are not significantly different at $P \le 5\%$.

4.3.3 Aboveground weed biomass weight

Similar to the values for weed infestation and weed density, interaction of main factors as well as roselle variety did not affect aboveground weed biomass (P > 0.05), but it was significantly

affected by common bean planting density ($P \le 0.05$) and cropping system ($p \le 0.01$) (Appendix Table 6). The higher dry weed biomass (13.34 g/m²) was resulted from intercropping roselle with common bean at 25% planting density and the lowest value (7.47 g/m²) was obtained from intercropping common bean at 100% planting density (Table 7). This could be due to increases in competition for space and growth resources suppressing weed germination and growth as the planting density increased. The role of common bean in weed suppression when intercropped with roselle was clearly reflected by the significantly higher weed biomass yield obtained from sole cropped plots (15.61 g/m²) compared to the lowest value for intercropping (9.92 g/m²) (Table 7). This might be due to effectiveness of intercrops in resource utilization, leaving smaller amounts for weeds growth compared to sole cropping, and it could also be through allelopathic effects of the intercrops on weeds (Yadollahi *et al.*, 2014). Similarly, Orluchukwu and Udensi (2013) reported significantly higher weed biomass for sole cropping of okra than when intercropped with maize and pepper. In contrary, lower weed dry weight was reported for sole maize than for the plots intercropped with cowpea (Prasad *et al.*, 2015) and beans (Chipomho *et al.*, 2015).

4.4 Productivity of Roselle-Common Bean Intercropping

4.4.1 Partial and total land equivalent ratio

4.4.1.1 Roselle and common bean partial land equivalent ratio

ANOVA revealed that the interaction of main factors was non significant for both roselle and common bean partial land equivalent ratio (P > 0.05) (Appendix Table 7). However, partial land equivalent ratio of the two roselle varieties were significantly ($P \le 0.05$) affected by common bean planting density. The higher partial land equivalent ratio of roselle (0.97) was obtained from intercropping with common bean at 25% planting density and the lowest (0.82) from intercropping with common bean at 100% planting density (Table 8). This might be due to the reduction in yield contribution of roselle as common bean planting density increased which favored yield of the common bean. This might have resulted from efficient utilization of resource as a result of increased competition of common bean at higher planting density. Furthermore, partial land equivalent ratio of common bean was significantly affected by roselle variety and

common bean planting density ($p \le 0.01$) (Appendix Table 7). The higher common bean partial land equivalent ratio (0.51) was obtained when intercropped with Hibiscus-Sudan and the lower (0.38) when intercropped with Hibiscus-Jamaica (Table 8). The lower partial land equivalent ratio, which was less than 0.5, showed the disadvantageous of intercropping, and thus, according to the present finding, common bean intercropping with variety Hibiscus-Jamaica was found to be inappropriate. This could be due to the competitive ability of the roselle variety for light, water and nutrients. On the other hand, the higher partial land equivalent ratio (0.51) of common bean from intercropping with Hibiscus-Sudan variety indicated as yield of common bean was more favored than the case of intercropping with Hibiscus-Jamaica. Furthermore, as common bean planting density increased from 25% to 100%, partial land equivalent ratio of common bean increased from 0.32 to 0.56, which, might be due to better resource utilization (Table 8). A similar increase in partial LER of common bean with increases in planting density has been reported for intercropping common bean with maize (Lulie *et al.*, 2016).

4.4.1.2 Total land equivalent ratio

The combined (total) land equivalent ratio of roselle and common bean intercropping was not significantly influenced (P > 0.05) by the interaction between main factors, by roselle variety and common bean planting density (Appendix Table 7). However, numerically, total LER was higher for intercropping common bean with variety Hibiscus-Sudan (1.35) compared to the result obtained for intercropping common bean with variety Hibiscus-Jamaica (1.30) (Table 8). This showed that intercropping Hibiscus-Sudan with common bean was more advantageous compared to Hibiscus-Jamaica. Furthermore, as common bean planting density increased from 25% to 100%, there was an increasing trend in total LER from 1.29 to 1.39 (Table 8). This was in agreement with the reports of Lulie *et al.* (2016) and Adafre (2016) who observed increment in total LER as common bean planting density increased from 25% to 100%. Based on the values of total LER, advantage of intercropping roselle with pigeon pea (Pushpa *et al.*, 2017), maize with faba bean (Rezaei-Chianeh *et al.*, 2011) and cotton with cow pea (Aesim *et al.*, 2008) has been reported.

4.4.2 Monetary advantage index (MAI)

Monetary advantage index of roselle-common bean intercropping was not affected by variety, planting density and their interaction (p > 0.05) (Appendix 7). However, numerically the highest monetary advantage (17, 946 ETB) was obtained from Hibiscus-Sudan than from Hibiscus-Jamaica (17, 283 ETB) (Table 8). Besides, as planting density increased from 25% to 100%, MAI increased from15, 525 ETB to 21, 410 ETB (Table 8). This could be due to difference in the amount of yield of common bean.

Table 8. Productivity of two roselle varieties and a common bean under an intercropping system of roselle with different common bean planting densities at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season.

Treatment		LER		MAI
-	Roselle	Common bean	Total	
Roselle Variety				
Hibiscus-Sudan	0.84	0.51 ^a	1.35	17946
Hibiscus-Jamaica	0.93	0.38 ^b	1.30	17283
CR(0.05)	NS	0.08	NS	NS
Common Bean Planting Den	sity			
100%	0.82 ^b	0.56ª	1.39	21410
75%	0.83 ^b	0.51ª	1.33	17548
50%	0.9^{ab}	0.38 ^b	1.29	15976
25%	0.97 ^a	0.32 ^b	1.29	15525
CR(0.05)	0.13	0.12	NS	NS
CV	11.93	21.99	12.32	50.17

NS=not significant; CV=Coefficient of variance; CD = Critical difference; LER= Land equivalent ratio; MAI=Monetary advantage index. Means in a column followed by the same letters are not significantly different at $P \le 5\%$.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Significant variations were observed between the two roselle varieties for all parameters. The highest values for yield and yield component were recorded for variety Hibiscus-Jamaica, except for thousand seed weight, which was higher for variety Hibiscus-Sudan. Dry calyx yield and dry aboveground biomass yield of Hibiscus-Jamaica were 0.92 ton ha⁻¹ and 2.96 ton ha⁻¹, respectively, compared to the corresponding values of 0.68 ton ha⁻¹ and 2.52 ton ha⁻¹ for Hibiscus-Sudan. Increases in planting densities of common bean reduced roselle seed yield per plant and calyx yield per hectare. The highest dry calyx yield (0.88 ton ha⁻¹) was obtained at 25% planting density, while the lowest was at 100% planting density (0.74 ton ha^{-1}). Besides, intercropping significantly reduced both seed yield per plant and calvx yield per hectare. All the evaluated parameters of common bean were significantly influenced by roselle varieties, except days to 50% flowering and thousand seed weight. In addition, the highest number of pods per plant, seeds per pod, and seed yield per hectare were obtained from plots intercropped with Hibiscus-Sudan compared to their respective values with Hibiscus-Jamaica. Moreover, an increase in planting density prolonged days to 50% flowering and reduced both number of pods per plant and seeds per pod, but increased both seed yield and aboveground biomass yield per hectare. Furthermore, intercropping significantly reduced days to 50% flowering, plant height, pods plant⁻¹, seed yield hectare⁻¹, and aboveground biomass yield. Higher aboveground dry biomass weight was obtained from plots intercropped with Hibiscus-Sudan (2.52 ton ha⁻¹), at 100% common bean planting density (3.26 ton ha⁻¹), and at sole cropping (7.96 ton ha⁻¹). Visual rating of weed infestation parameters such as visual weed infestation rating, weed density, and weed aboveground biomass weight showed that there was better weed control at higher common bean planting densities and in intercropped plots. The highest dry weed biomass (13.34 g) was recorded for 25% common bean planting density and the lowest (7.47 g) was for 100% planting density. Intercropping roselle with common bean reduced weed density by 44.68% and weed dry biomass by 36.45% compared to sole cropping. There was no variation between roselle varieties for weed control based on the parameters used for evaluation.

The productivity of the intercropping roselle with common bean was also evaluated based on land equivalent ratio (LER) and monetary advantage index (MAI). Partial LER of common bean

was significantly influenced due to roselle variety, where, Hibiscus-Jamaica resulted in lower value (0.38). However, as planting density increased from 25% to 100%, partial LER of roselle decreased from 0.97 to 0.82, while that of common bean increased from 0.32 to 0.56. Both total LER and MAI were not significantly affected by roselle varieties and common bean planting densities. But, both parameters were numerically higher for Hibiscus-Sudan and showed an increasing trend as planting density increased. Intercropping Hibiscus-Sudan with common bean resulted in 35% yield advantage and 17,946 ETB monetary advantage while Hibiscus-Jamaica intercropped with common bean resulted in 30% yield advantage and 17,283 ETB monetary value. In addition, common bean at 100% planting density intercropped with roselle resulted in 39% yield advantage as well as 21,410 ETB monetary value. Therefore, it was suggested that a combination of Hibiscus-Sudan and common bean at 100% planting density would be advantageous for growers in Hawassa area and in similar agroecologies for better yield, economic benefit and weed control. However, further studies should be carried out under rainfed condition, at different locations and in different years to come up with more comprehensive result.

6. REFERENCES

- Abdullah, S.S., and Fouad, H.A., 2016. Effect of intercropping agro ecosystem on the population of black legume aphid, Aphis craccivora Koch, and yield of faba bean crop. *Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies*. **4(4)**: 1367-1371.
- Adafre, A. N., 2016. Advantages of Maize-Haricot bean Intercropping over Sole Cropping through Competition Indices at West Badewacho woreda, Hadiya Zone, SNNPR. *Academic Research Journal of Agricultural Science and Research*. **4(1)**: 1-8.
- Adeyemi, O.R., Fabunmi, T.O., Adedeji, V.O. and Adigun, J.A., 2014. Effects of Time of Weed Removal and Cropping system on Weed Control and Crop Performance in Okra/Amaranthus Intercrop. *American Journal of Experimental Agriculture*. 4(12): 1697-1707.
- Aesim, M., Umer, E.M. and Karim, A., 2008. Yield and Competition Indices of Intercropping Cotton(Gossypium hirsutum L.) Using Different Planting Patterns. Tarimbilimleri dergisi, Ankara University. 14(4): 326-333.
- Agegnehu, G., Ghizaw, A. and Sinebo, W., 2006. Yield performance and land-use efficiency of barley and faba bean mixed cropping in Ethiopian highlands. *European Journal of Agronomy*. **25(3)**: 202-207.
- Ahmed, A.S., Abdelrahman, M.K., and Abuelgasim, E.H., 2009. Some genotypic and phenotypic traits of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa var. Sabdariffa*) and their practical implications. *Journal of Science and Technology*. **10(2)**: 69-89.
- Ajay, M., Chai, H.J., Mustafa, A.M., Gilani, A.H. and Mustafa, M.R., 2007. Mechanisms of the anti-hypertensive effect of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. calyces. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*. 109(3): 388-393.
- Alemayehu, D., Shumi, D., and Afeta, T., 2018. Effect of Variety and Time of Intercropping Common Bean with Maize on Yield Components and Yield of Associated crops and Productivity of the System at Mid-Land of Guji, Southern Ethiopia. *Advances in Crop Science and Technology*. 6(1): 1-9.
- Alemayehu, Y. and Boki, M.K.A., 2015. Effect of Intra-Row Spacing on Haricot Bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) Production in humid Tropics of Southern Ethiopia. *Journal of Natural Science Research*. 5(15):2015.
- Ali, M.R., Rahman, M.S., Asaduzzaman, M., Hossain, M.M. and Mannan, M.A., 2015. Intercropping maize with different vegetables. *Bangladesh Agronomy Journal*. **18(1)**: 49-52.
- Atta, S., Sarr, B., Bakasso, Y., Diallo, A.B., Lona, I., Saadou, M. and Glew, R.H., 2010. Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) yield and yield components in response to nitrogen fertilization in Niger. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Research*. 44(2): 96-103.
- Babatunde, F.E., Oseni, T.O., Auwalu, B.M. and Udom, G.N., 2002. Effect of Sowing Dates, Intra-Row Spacings and Nitrogen Fertilizers of the Productivity of Red Variant Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdarifa* L). *Pertanika journal of tropical agricultural science*. **25(2)**: 99-106.
- Bagheri, M., Zaefarian, F., Bicharanlou, B., Ghanizadeh, H., 2014. A study of intercropping of maize with sweet basil and borage. *Cercetări Agronomice în Moldova*. 2(158): 13-28.
- Bantie, Y.B., 2014. Determination of effective spatial arrangement for intercropping of maize and potato using competition indices at south wollo, Ethiopia. *International Journal of Research In Agriculture and Food Sciences.* **2(8)**: 9-19.
- Blazewicz-Wozniak, M. and Wach, D., 2011. The effect of intercropping on yielding of root vegetables of Apiaceae Family. *Acta Sci. Pol., Hortorum Cultus.* **10(4)**: 233-243.

- Builders, P.F., Kabele-Toge, B., Builders, M., Chindo, B.A., Anwunobi, P.A., and Isimi,Y.C., 2013. Wound Healing Potential of Formulated Extract from. *Indian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*. **75(1)**: 45-52.
- Chipomho, J., Mapope, N., Masuka, B., Ngezimana, W. and Chipomho, C., 2015. The influence of cropping systems and maize-bean intercrop spatial patterns on companion crop yield, weed density and biomass. *International Journal of Agriculture and Crop Sciences.* **8**(5): 697-705.
- Da-Costa-Rocha, I., Bonnlaender, B., Sievers, H., Pischel, I., Heinrich, M., 2014. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. A phytochemical and pharmacological review. *Food chemistry.* (165): 424-443.
- Dahmardeh, M. 2013. Intercropping Two Varieties of Maize (*Zea mays* L.) and Peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.): Biomass Yield and Intercropping Advantages. *International Journal of Agriculture and Forestry.* **3(1)**: 7-1.
- Dereje, G., Adisu, T., Mengesha, M. and Bogale, T., 2016. The Influence of Intercropping Sorghum with Legumes for Management and Control of Striga in Sorghum at Assosa Zone, Benshangul Gumuz Region, Western Ethiopia, East Africa. Advances in Crop Science and Technology. 4(5): 1-5.
- Desalegn, T. and Fekadu, W., 2012. Performance of highland maize and potato varieties for intercropping in the western highlands of Ethiopia. *Wudpecker Journal of Agricultural Research.* 1(7): 275-280.
- Dessie, G. and Kleman, J. 2007. Pattern and deforestation in the South Central Rift Valley Region of Ethiopia. *Mountain Research and Development*. **27(2)**: 162-168.
- Egbutah, E.U., Obasi, M.M., Kalu, B.A. and Aguoru, C.U., 2015. Correlation among seed yield and yield attributes in Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa L.*) as influenced by previous intercrop and nitrogen fertilizer. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Science.* **3(3)**: 59-64.
- El Naim, A.M, Khaliefa, E.H., Ibrahim, K.A., Ismaeil, F. M., Moayad, Zaied, M.B. 2012. Growth and Yield of Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L) as Influenced by Plant Population in Arid Tropic of Sudan under Rain-fed. *International Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*. 2(3): 88-91.
- Elneairy, N.A., 2014. Comparative Studies on Egyptian and Libyan Roselle Seeds as a Source of Lipid and Protein. *Food and Nutrition Sciences*. **5(22)**: 2237-2245.
- El-Sherif, M.H. and Sarwat, M.I., 2007. Physiological and Chemical Variation in Roselle Plant (*Hibiscus sabdariffa*) by Using Some Organic FarmYard Manure. *World Journal of Agriculturla Science*. **3(5)**: 609-616.
- Fadi, K.E.M. and Gebauer, J., 2004. Crop Performance and Yield of Groundnut, Sesame and Roselle in an Agroforesty Cropping System with *Acacia senegal* in North Kordofan (Sudan). *Journal of Agriculture and Rural Development in the Tropics and Subtropics*. 105(2):149-154.
- FAO., 2015. Analysis of price incentives for haricot beans in Ethiopia. Technical Notes series, MAFAP. Rome.
- Fbabatunde, F., 2003. Intercrop productivity of Roselle in Nigeria. *African Crop Science Journal*. **11(1)**: 43-48.
- Gebremedin, B., 2015. Influence of Variety and Plant Spacing on Yield and Yield Attributes of Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.). *Science, Technology, and Arts Research Journal.* **4(4)**: 25-30.

- Gendy, A.S.H., Nosir, W.S. and Nawar, D.A.R., 2017. Evaluation of Competitive Indices between Roselle and Cowpea as Influenced By Intercropping System and Bio-Fertilization Type. *Middle East Journal of Agriculture*. **6(1)**: 199-207.
- Gereziher, T., Seid, E., and Bisrat, G., 2017. Performance evaluation of common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) varieties in Raya Valley, Northern Ethiopia. *African Journal of Plant Science*. **11(1)**: 1-5.
- Girma, A., 2015. Yield Advantage and Economic Benefit of Maize Basil Intercropping under Different Spatial Arrangements and Nitrogen Rates. *Scholarly Journal of Agricultural Science.* 5(8): 296-302.
- Girma, A., Demelash, A. and Ayele, T., 2014b. The Response of Haricot bean varieties to different rates of Phosphorus at Arbaminch, southern Ethiopia. *ARPN Journal of Agricultural and Biological Science*. **9(10)**:344-350.
- Girma, A., Girefe S. and Abdel-Rahman M. A., 2005. Evaluation of potential trap crops on Orobanche soil seed bank and tomato yield in the Central Rift Valley of Ethiopia. *World Journal of Agricultural Science*. **1(2)**: 148-151.
- Girma. T., Philiphos, M. and Abera, S., 2014a. Profitability Study of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* L. Production around Wondo Genet District, Ethiopia. *Science, Technology, and Arts Research Journal.* **3(4)**: 214-218.
- Gliessman, S.R., 1985. Multiple cropping systems: A basis for developing an alternative agriculture. Inovative biological technologies for lesser developed countries workshop proceedings. OTA, Washington, DC, 69-83p.
- Hailu, G., 2015. A Review on the Comparative Advantages of Intercropping to Mono-Cropping System. *Journal of Biology, Agriculture, and Healthcare.* **5(9)**: 1-14.
- Hainida, K.I.E., Amin, H., Normah, A.H., Mohd-Esa, N., 2008. Nutritional and amino acid contents of differently treated Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) Seeds. Food Chemistry. 111(4): 906-911.
- Hauggaard-Nielsen, H., Jornsgaard, B., Kinane, J., Jensen, E.S., 2008. Grain legume-cereal intercropping: The practical application of diversity, competition and facilitation in arable and organic cropping systems. *Renew Agr Food Syst.* **23(1)**: 3-12.
- Hellevang, K.J., 1995. Grain moisture content effects and management. North Dakota State Extension Publication AE-905. [online]. http://www.ag.ndsu.edu/extension-aben/documents/ae905.pdf>. [URL accessed in April 2018].
- Heydari, H., Dahmardeh, M., Khammari, E., 2016. Evaluation of the Quantity and Quality Yield of Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) and Cowpea (*Vignaun guiculata* L.) in Intercropping at Replacement Series. *Research in Crop Ecosystems.* **3(1)**: 53.
- Hirpa, T., 2014. Effect of intercrop row arrangement on maize and haricot bean productivity and the residual soil. *World Journal of Agricultural Sciences*. **2(4)**: 069-077.
- Horwith, B., 1985. A role for intercropping in modern agriculture. BioScience. 35(5): 286-291
- Hugar and Palled., 2008. Studies on Maize-Vegetable Intercropping Systems. *Karnataka J. Agricultural Science*. **21(2)**: 162-164.
- Ibrahim, E.B., Abdalla, A.W.H., Ibrahim, E.A., El Naim, A.M., 2013. Variability in Some Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) Genotypes for Yield and its Attributes. *International Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*. 3(7): 261-266.
- Ismail, A., Ikram, E.H.K. and Nazri, H.S.M., 2008. Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) seedsnutritional composition, protein quality and health benefits. *Food.* **2(1)**: 1-16.

- Jankowska, B., Jędrszczyk, E. and Poniedziałek, M., 2012. Effect of intercropping carrot (*Daucus carota* L.) with french marigold (*Tagetes patula nana* L.) and pot marigold (*Calendula officinalis* L.) on the occurrence of some pests and quality of carrot yield. *Acta Agrobotanica*. **65(4)**: 133.
- Jerai, M.C., Kandeyang, S., & Pandey, A.C., 2010. Study of Yield Advantage of Intercropping Over Sole Cropping Under Rainfed Condition. *International Journal of Tropical Agriculture*. **28(1)**: 233-236.
- Kaushik, S.S. and Sharma, T.D., 2017. Wheat and Component Intercrop Yield, Land Equivalent Ratio and Monetary Indices Influenced by Intercropping and Row Proportions. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences.* **6**(7): 2626-2631.
- Khan, M.A., Marwat, K.B., Umm-E-Kulsoom, Hussain, Z., Hashim, S., Rab, A., and Nawab, A.K., 2013. Weed control effects on the wheat-pea intercropping. *Journal of Pakistan Botany*. **45(5)**:1743-1748.
- Koocheki, A., Mahallati, M.N., Deihimfard, R., Talarposhti, R.M., and Kheirkhah, M., 2015. Evaluating the Competitiveness and Productivity in a Maize-Bean Intercropping System Using some Indices. *Iranian Journal of Field Crops Research*. **12(4)**: 56.
- Li, L., Zhang, F., Li, X., Christie, P., Sun, J., Yang, S., Tang, C., 2003. Interspecific facilitation of nutrient uptake by intercropped maize and faba bean. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystem*. 65(1): 61–71.
- Lithourgidis, A.S., Dordas, C.A., Damalas, C.A. and Vlachostergios, D., 2011. Annual intercrops: an alternative pathway for sustainable agriculture. *Australian journal of crop science*. **5(4)**: 396.
- Lulie, B. and Bogale, T., 2014. Intercropping of Haricot Bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) with stevia (*Stevia rebaudina* L.) as Supplementary Income Generation at Wondo Genet Agricultural Research Center, South Ethiopia. *International Journal of Recent Research in Life Sciences*. 1(1): 44-54.
- Lulie, B., Worku, W. and Beyene, S., 2016. Determinations of Haricot Bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) Planting Density and Spatial Arrangement for Staggered Intercropping with Maize (*Zea mays* L.) at Wondo Genet, Southern Ethiopia. *Academic Research Journal of Agricultural Science and Research*. 4(6): 297-320.
- Mahadevan, N. and Kamboj, P., 2009. *Hibiscus sabdariffa* Linn: an overview. *Natural Product Radiance*. **8(1)**: 77-83
- Mead, R. and Willey, R.W., 1980. The Concept of a 'Land Equivalent Ratio' and Advantages in Yields from Intercropping. *Experimental Agriculture*. **16(3)**: 217 228.
- Medagam, T.R., Begum, H., Rao, N.H., Neelam, S., Pandravada, S.R., and Natarajan, S., 2015. Genetic Diversity and Variability in Landraces for Key Agro economic traits in Vegetable Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa var.sabdariffa* L.). *Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences*. 8(2): 113-115.
- Mehdi, D., Turan, N. and Issa, K., 2015. Evaluation of aloe Vera intercropping on quantitative and qualitative characteristics of Roselle. *Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science*. **21(4)**: 779-783.
- Mitiku, A., Chala, A., and Beyene, Y., 2013. The Effect Of Intercropping Of Pepper With Maize And Sweet Potato On Infection Of Pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.) By Potyviruse And Yield Of Pepper In, Southern Ethiopia. *International journal of technology enhancements and emerging engineering research*. 1(4): 68-73.
- Mohamed, B.B., Sulaiman, A.A. and Dahab, A.A., 2012. Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) in Sudan, Cultivation and Their Uses. *Bulletin of Environment, Pharmacology, and Life Sciences.* 1(6): 48 54.
- Mohd-Esa, N., Hern, F.S, Ismail A, Yee, C.Y., 2010. Antioxidant activity in different parts of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) extracts and potential exploitation of the seeds. *Food Chemistry*. **122(4)**: 1055-1060.
- Mousavi, S.H. and Eskandari, H., 2011. A General Overview on Intercropping and Its Advantages in Sustainable Agriculture. *Journal of Applied Environmental And Biological Science*. **1(11)**: 482-486.
- Mulu, A., Gedebo, A., and Mohammed, H., 2016. Participatory Variety Evaluation of Red Common Bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) in Borecha District of Southern Ethiopia. *Advances in Crop Science and Technology*. **4(5)**: 1-4.
- Muoneke, C.O., Akingbade, I.O. and Magaji, M.D., 2002. Productivity of Roselle/cowpea intercropping system in a semi-arid agroecology. *Global Journal of Agricultural Sciences*. **1**(2): 111-118.
- Mutisya, S., Saidi, M., Opiyo, A., Ngouajio, M., and Martin, T., 2016. Synergistic Effects of Agronet Covers and Companion Cropping on Reducing White fly Infestation and Improving Yield of Open Field-Grown Tomatoes. *Agronomy*. **6(42)**: 1-14.
- Nchanji, Y.K., Nkongho, R.N., Mala, W.A., Levang, P., 2016. Efficacy of oil palm intercropping by smallholders. Case study in South-West Cameroon. *Agroforest Systems*. **90(3)**: 509-519.
- Nigussie, A., Belstie, L., and Midekesa, C., 2017. Intercropping of Onion with Rosemary as Supplementary Income Generation at Wondo Genet Sidama zone, Southern Ethiopia. *Academic Research Journal of Agricultural Science and Research*. **5(2)**: 107-115.
- Nurbakhsh, F., Koocheki, A., Mahallati, M.N., 2013. Evaluation of yield, yield components, and different intercropping indices in mixed and row intercropping of sesame (Sesamum indicum L.) and bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.). International Journal of Agriculture and Crop Sciences. 5 (17): 1958-1965.
- Odhiambo, G.D. and Ariga, E.S., 2001. Effect of intercropping maize and beans on striga incidence and grain yield. pp.183-186. *Proceedings of the Seventh Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Maize Conference*, 11-15 February 2001. pp183-186.
- Okosun, L.A., Magaji, M.D., and Yakubu, A.I. 2006. Effect of N and P on Growth and Yield of Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L) in a Semi Arid Agroecology of Nigeria. *Journal of plant science*. **1(2)**: 154-160.
- Orluchukwu, J.A. and Udensi, U.E., 2013. The effect of intercropping pattern of okra, maize, pepper on weeds infestations and okra yield. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*. **8(10)**: 896-902.
- Pacome, O.A., Bernard, D.N., Sékou, D., Joseph, D.A., David, N.J., Mongomaké, K., and Hilaire, K.T., 2014. Phytochemical and Antioxidant Activity of Roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) Petal Extracts.. *Journal of Pharmaceutical, Biological and Chemical Sciences.* 5(2): 1453-1465.
- Patra, D.D, Prasad, A., Anwar, M., Singh, D., Chand, S., Ram, B., Katiyar, R.S., & Kumar. S., 2002. Performance of lemongrass cultivars intercropped with chamomile under sodic soils with different levels of gypsum application. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis.* 33(11-12): 1707-1721.

- Peoples, M.B., Brockwell, J., Herridge, D.F., Rochester, I.J., Alves, B.J.R., Urquiaga, S., Boddey, R.M., Dakora, F.D., Bhattarai, S., Maskey, S.L. and Sampet, C., 2009. The contributions of nitrogen-fixing crop legumes to the productivity of agricultural systems. *Symbiosis*. 48(1-3): 1-17.
- Pereira, A.L., Taques, T.C., Valim, J.O.S., Madureira, A.P., and Campos, W.G., 2015. The management of bee communities by intercropping with flowering basil (*Ocimum basilicum*) enhances pollination and yield of bell pepper (*Capsicum annuum*). Journal of Insect Conservation. 19(3): 479-486.
- Plotto, A., Mazaud, F., Röttger, A. and Steffel, K., 2004. Hibiscus: Post-production management for improved market access organization. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), AGST. Rome. pp1-14.
- Pour, A.H., Mahalleh, J.K., Tabrizi, H.Z., Valilue, R. 2016. Evaluation of Yield and Yield Components in Intercropping of Maize and Green Bean. *Journal of agricultural science*. 26(1): 68-78.
- Prasad, R.D., Singh, R., Prasad, R.P. and Kumar, S., 2015. Influence of intercropping and weed control methods on growth and yield of maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Research in Environmental and Life Science*. **8(1)**: 37-40.
- Purseglove, J.W., 1974. Tropical crops: Dicotyledons. Longman, London. 372p.
- Pushpa, T.N., Umesha, K., Vasundhara, M., Ramachandrappa, B.K., Sreeramu, B.S. and Srikantaprasad, D., 2017. Intercropping of Roselle with Red Gram and Nipped Castor is Beneficial to Dry Land Farmer. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Science*. 6(9): 2179-2188.
- Raei, Y., Weisany, W., Ghassemi-Golezani, K., and Torabian, S., 2015. Effects of additive intercropping on field performance of potato and green bean at different densities. *Biological Forum – An International Journal.* 7(2): 534-540.
- Rana, S.S., and Rana, M.C., 2011. Cropping System. *Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishvavidyalaya*, *CSK, Palampur, India:* **7**: 1-18.
- Rao, B.R., 2002. Biomass yield, essential oil yield and essential oil composition of rose-scented geranium (*Pelargonium species*) as influenced by row spacings and intercropping with cornmint (*Mentha arvensis* L.). *Industrial crops and Products*. **16(2)**: 133-144.
- Rezaei-Chianeh, E., Nassab, A.D.M., Shakiba, M.R., Ghassemi-Golezani, K., Aharizad, S. and Shekari, F., 2011. Intercropping of maize (*Zea mays. L*) and faba bean (*Vicia faba. L*) at different plant population densities. *African Journal of Agricultural Research.* 6(7): 1786-1793.
- Rigi, K., Mousavinik, S.M., Dahmardeh, M., and Khammari, I., 2017. Evaluation of methanol spraying on yield components of triple intercropping of Roselle, peanut, and Aloe Vera. *International Journal of Agriculture and Bioscience*. **6(1)**: 71-75.
- Santos, J.C.F., da Cunha, A.J., Ferreira, F.A., Santos, R.H.S., Sakiyama, N.S., & de Lima, P.C., 2016. Herbaceous Legumes Intercropping in Weed Management of the Coffee Crop. *Journal of Agriculture and Environmental Sciences*. **5**(1): 91-100.
- Sarker, U.K., Dey, S., Kundu, S., and Awal, M.A., 2013. On-farm study on intercropping of hybrid maize with short duration vegetables. *Journal of Bangladesh Agril. Univ.* **11(1)**: 1-4.
- Satyanarayana, N.H., Visalakshmi, V., Mukherjee, S., and Roy, S.K., 2018. Genetic Variability, Inter-Relationship and Path Analysis for Seed Yield and it's Contributing Traits in Roselle

(*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) Over Six Environments. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*. **7(1)**: 720-732.

- Schippers, R.R., 2000. African Indigenous vegetable: An overview of the cultivated species. Natural Resources Institute/ACP-EU. Technical Center for Agricultural and Rural Cooperation. Chatam, U.K. 1-124p.
- Singh, S.K., Sharma, M. and Singh, P.K., 2016. Combined approach of intercropping and INM to improve availability of soil and leaf nutrients in fruit trees. *Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Sciences*. **9(2)**: 823-829.
- Stoltz, E. and Nadeau, E., 2014. Effects of intercropping on yield, weed incidence, forage quality and soil residual N in organically grown forage maize (*Zea mays L.*) and faba bean (*Vicia faba L.*). *Filed Crops Research*. **169**: 21-29.
- Subramanian, S., Ali, A.M., Kumar, R.J., 1991. All about weed control. *Kalyani Publishers*, New Delhi 110002, India. 315p
- Sullivan, P., 2003. Intercropping principles and practices. Agronomy systems guide. Appropriate Technology Transfer for Rural Area, National Sustainable Agriculture Information Service.
- Tadele, Z., 2017. Raising Crop Productivity in Africa through Intensification. *Agronomy*. **7(22)**: 1-30.
- Tadsesse, A., Taye, E., Yelma, A. and Mesfine, T., 2015. Intercropping of Arabica Coffee (*Coffea Arabica* L.) with Korerima (Aframomum Korarima) in South Western Ethiopia. *Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare*. **5(21)**: 123-126.
- Tejaswini, Sheriff, R. A. and Sarma, M. S. 1995. Heterosis, potence ratio and inbreeding depression in roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa var. altissima*). *Indian Journal of Genetics and Plant Breeding*. **55(4)**: 359-361.
- Temesgen, J., Kufa, T. & Wondimu, Z., 2015. Effect of Plant Density of Hybrid Maize and Common Bean Varieties on the Productivity of Intercropping System at Jimma, South West Ethiopia. *Global Journal of Life Science and Biological Research*. **1(1)**: 9-19.
- Tomes, D.T. 1990. Current research in biotechnology with application to plant breeding. In: Nijkamp HJJ, Van Der Plas LHW, Van Aartrijk J (Eds.). Progress in Plant Cellular and Molecular Biology. Current Plant Science and Biotechnology in Agriculture Vol. 9, Springer, Netherlands. 23-32p.
- Tounkara, F., Amadou, I., Le, G.W. and Shi, Y.H., 2011. Effect of boiling on the physicochemical properties of Roselle seeds (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.) cultivated in Mali. *African journal of Biotechnology*. **10(79)**: 18160-18166.
- Vaidya, K. 2000. Natural cross-pollination in Roselle, Hibiscus sabdariffa L. (Malvaceae). *Genetics and Molecular Biology*. **23(3)**: 667-669.
- Vandermeer, J.H., 1992. <u>The Ecology of Intercropping</u>. Publisher: *Cambridge University Press*. Cambridge, United Kingdom. 237p.
- Verma, R.K., Yadav, A., Verma, R.S., Rehman, L., Khan, k., 2014. Intercropping of Aromatic crop *Pelargonium graveolens* with *Solanum tuberosum* for Better productivity and soil Health. *Journal of Environmental Biology.* 35(6): 1165-1171.
- Vieira, R.F., de Paula, T.J., Teixeira H, Vieira, C., 2009. Intensity of angular leaf spot and anthracnose on pods of common beans cultivated in three cropping systems. Cienc Agrotec. **33**:1931-1934.

- Waktola, S.K., Belete, K. and Tana, T., 2014. Productivity evaluation of maize soybean intercropping system under rain fed condition at Bench-Maji Zone, Ethiopia. *Sky Journal of Agricultural Research*. **3(9)**: 158-164.
- Workayehu, T., 2014. Legume-based cropping for sustainable production, economic benefit and reducing climate change impacts in southern Ethiopia. *Journal of Agricultural and Crop Research.* 2(1): 11-21.
- Xu, B.C., Li, F.M., Sham L., 2008. Switch grass and milk vetch intercropping under 2:1 rowreplacement in semiarid region, northwest China: aboveground biomass and water use efficiency. *European Journal of Agronomy*. **28(3)**: 485–492.
- Yadollahi, P., Abad, A.R.B., Khaje, M., Asgharipour, M.R. and Amiri, A., 2014. Effect of intercropping on weed control in sustainable agriculture. *International Journal of Agriculture and Crop Sciences*. **7(10)**: 683.
- Zhang, Y, Liu J, Zhang J, Liu, H, Liu, S, Zhai, L., 2015. Row Ratios of Intercropping Maize and Soybean Can Affect Agronomic Efficiency of the System and Subsequent Wheat. *PLOS ONE*. **10(6)**: 1-16

7. APPENDICES

7.1 Appendix Tables

Appendix Table 1 Analysis of variance for phenology, yield and yield components of roselle as affected by roselle variety, planting density of common bean, and cropping system at Hawassa during 2017/2018

Mean squares								
Source	DF	DFL	DM	PH (cm)	NBPP	NCPP	TSW(g)	SYPP(g)
Rep	2	8.67**	2.67**	1152.78**	18.85 ^{NS}	434.28**	0.70 ^{NS}	65.84 ^{NS}
Var	1	2816.67***	4930.67***	963.93*	305.45***	1132.72***	52.24***	596.40***
PD	3	0.22 ^{NS}	0.00 ^{NS}	57.56 ^{NS}	34.69 ^{NS}	22.30 ^{NS}	0.07 ^{NS}	96.26*
Var*PD	3	2.00 ^{NS}	0.00 ^{NS}	11.00 ^{NS}	12.68 ^{NS}	14.66 ^{NS}	0.26 ^{NS}	5.01 ^{NS}
Error	14	1.05	5.33	160.99	13.34	38.42	2.22	19.33
CV		0.76	0.37	16.5	21.46	15.78	4.79	10.13
				Cropping syst	em			
Rep	2	11.20***	4.13***	1177.26**	23.24 ^{NS}	426.95**	0.111 ^{NS}	112.49**
CS	1	3.33 ^{NS}	2.13*	214.13 ^{NS}	41.94 ^{NS}	55.81 ^{NS}	0.003 ^{NS}	359.29*
Error	2	1.12	0.32	135.08	14.74	30.64	2.36	27.53
CV		0.79	0.34	14.86	21.8	13.85	4.94	11.63

NS=not significant; *, **, and *** significant at $P \le 0.05$, $P \le 0.01$ and $P \le 0.001$ probability levels respectively; DF = degree of freedom; Var = Variety; PD = Planting density; CS = Cropping system; DFL = Days to 50% flowering; DM = Days to maturity; PH = Plant height; NBPP = Number of primary branch per plant; NCPP = Number of capsule per plant; TSW=Thousand seed weight; SYPP=Seed yield per plant.

Append	lix Table	2 Analysis	s of va	riance (Al	NOVA) f	or fre	sh and dry	calyx yi	eld	per hectar	e, fresh
and dry	/ above §	ground bic	mass	yield per	hectare,	and	harvest inc	lex of ro	osel	le as affec	cted by
roselle	variety,	common	bean	planting	density,	and	cropping	system	at	Hawassa	during
2017/20	018										

			Mean Squares			
Source	DF	FCY	DCY	FAB	DAB	HI (%)
		$(ton ha^{-1})$	(ton ha ⁻¹)	(ton)	(ton)	
Rep	2	3.03***	0.015^{NS}	8.58 ^{NS}	$0.45^{ m NS}$	0.001 ^{NS}
Var	1	6.06***	0.36***	66.31***	1.18*	0.015*
PD	3	2.04**	0.025*	1.28 ^{NS}	$0.04^{ m NS}$	0.001 ^{NS}
Var*PD	3	0.34^{NS}	0.006^{NS}	0.08 ^{NS}	$0.03^{ m NS}$	0.001 ^{NS}
Error	14	0.21	0.005	2.61	0.16	0.002
CV		10.30	8.79	10	14.76	16.06
		(Cropping System	1		
Rep	2	2.75*	0.03 ^{NS}	8.16*	$0.38^{ m NS}$	$0.001 \ ^{\rm NS}$
CS	1	4.01**	0.06*	2.22 ^{NS}	0.07^{NS}	0.003 ^{NS}
Error	2	0.51	0.01	1.81	0.114	0.002
CV		15.32	11.76	8.24	12.22	14.45

NS=not significant; *, **, and *** significant at P \leq 0.05, P \leq 0.01 and P \leq 0.001 probability levels respectively; DF = degree of freedom; Var = Variety; PD = Planting density; CS = Cropping system; FCY=Fresh calyx yield per hectare; DCY= Dry calyx yield per hectare; FABPH=Fresh above ground biomass per hectare; DABPH=Dry above ground biomass per hectare; HI=Harvest index.

Source of variation	DF	Day	s to	Plant Height (cm)
		50% Flowering	Maturity	_
Rep	2	1.67 ^{NS}	7.12*	133.98 ^{NS}
Var	1	0.67^{NS}	63.37***	745.49**
PD	3	4.00^{*}	2.37 ^{NS}	174.25 ^{NS}
Var*PD	3	2.00^{NS}	1.04 ^{NS}	56.76 ^{NS}
Error	14	1.17	1.84	81.97
CV		1.73	1.39	19.78
		Cropping sys	tem	
Rep	2	1.6 ^{NS}	17.03**	395.81 ^{NS}
CS	1	8.53*	4.41 ^{NS}	2652.30***
Error	2	1.50	2.06	124.80
CV		1.96	1.46	22.14

Appendix Table 3 Analysis of variance for phenological and growth parameters of common bean as affected by roselle variety, common bean planting density, and cropping system at Hawassa during 2017/2018

NS=not significant; *, **, and *** significant at P \leq 0.05, P \leq 0.01 and P \leq 0.001 probability levels respectively; Rep= Replication; DF = degree of freedom; Var =Variety; PD = Planting density; CS = Cropping system; CV= coefficient of variance.

			Mean squares		
Source	DF	Pod number	Seed number	Seed yield	TSW
		per plant	per pod	$(ton ha^{-1})$	(g)
Rep	2	283.17*	1.47**	0.86 ^{NS}	1056.28 ^{NS}
Var	1	700.92**	1.60*	3.56**	2.78 ^{NS}
PD	3	275.49*	0.74^{*}	1.59**	7.23 ^{NS}
Var*PD	3	0.59 ^{NS}	0.52 ^{NS}	0.08^{NS}	0.62 ^{NS}
Error	14	71.49	0.21	0.25	2124.79
CV		37.15	11.84	28.19	15.97
		(Cropping system		
Rep	2	285.02*	0.21 ^{NS}	3.63**	1.87 ^{NS}
CS	1	1114.47**	0.12 ^{NS}	24.94***	11.79 ^{NS}
Error	2	80.73	0.59	0.43	1688.24
CV		34.81	19.81	29.94	14.22

Appendix Table 4 Analysis of variance for yield and yield components of common bean as affected by roselle variety, common bean planting density, and cropping system at Hawassa during 2017/2018

NS=not significant; *, **, and *** significant at P \leq 0.05, P \leq 0.01 and pP \leq 0.001 probability levels respectively; Rep= Replication; DF = degree of freedom; Var =Variety; PD = Planting density; CV= coefficient of variance; CS = Cropping system; TSW=Thousand seed weight.

		Mean squares	
Source	DF	Aboveground fresh	Aboveground dry
		biomass(ton ha-1)	biomass (ton ha-1)
Rep	2	49.09 ^{NS}	1.06 ^{NS}
Var	1	720.11**	3.94**
PD	3	405.15**	4.31***
Var*PD	3	5.68 ^{NS}	0.60 ^{NS}
Error	14	56.99	0.43
CV		37.24	25.99
		Cropping system	
Rep	2	16.84 ^{NS}	1.00^{NS}
CS	1	19647.98***	142.30***
Error	2	132.10	0.96
CV		34.76	27.20

Appendix Table 5 Analysis of variance for fresh and dry aboveground biomass yield of common bean as affected by roselle variety, common bean planting density, and cropping system at Hawassa during 2017/2018

NS=not significant; *, **, and *** significant at P \leq 0.05, P \leq 0.01 and P \leq 0.001 probability levels respectively; Rep= Replication; DF =Degree of freedom; Var =Variety; PD = Planting density; CV= coefficient of variance; CS = Cropping system; HI=Harvest index Appendix Table 6 Analysis of variance for visual rating of weed infestation, weed density, and aboveground biomass as affected by roselle variety, common bean planting density, and cropping system at Hawassa during 2017/2018

Mean squares					
Source	DF	Visual weed infestation	Weed density	Aboveground dry weed	
		rating (scale1-6)	(plant/m ²)	biomass (g/m ²)	
Rep	2	0.66**	77.73 **	59.17*	
Var	1	0.26 ^{NS}	17.29 ^{NS}	33.56 ^{NS}	
PD	3	0.70 **	93.70 **	42.20*	
Var*PD	3	0.09 ^{NS}	19.9 ^{NS}	1.45 ^{NS}	
Error	14	0.08	11.87	12.35	
CV		18.64	36.19	34.82	
		Cropping sy	stem		
Rep	2	0.70 *	127.33*	55.15*	
CS	1	4.22***	283.64**	155.21**	
Error	2	0.18	26.40	15.95	
CV		24.27	46.47	36.10	

NS=not significant; *, **, and *** significant at $P \le 0.05$, $P \le 0.01$ and $P \le 0.001$ probability levels respectively; Rep= Replication; DF =Degree of freedom; Var =Variety; PD = Planting density; CV= coefficient of variance; CS = Cropping system;

			Mean squares		
Source	DF		LER		MAI
		Roselle	Common bean	Total	
Rep	2	0.084**	0.022^{NS}	0.141*	177953659.4 ^{NS}
Var	1	0.047^{NS}	0.010**	0.012^{NS}	2632934.8 ^{NS}
PD	3	0.029*	0.077**	0.015^{NS}	42919364.2 ^{NS}
Var*PD	3	0.007^{NS}	0.010 ^{NS}	0.011 ^{NS}	27327736.2 ^{NS}
Error	14	0.011	0.009	0.027	78096750
CV		11.93	21.99	12.32	50.17

Appendix Table 7 Analysis of variance for productivity of roselle as affected by roselle variety and common bean planting density in roselle-common bean intercropping at Hawassa during 2017/2018.

NS=not significant; *, **, and *** significant at P \leq 0.05, P \leq 0.01 and P \leq 0.001 probability levels respectively; Rep= Replication; DF = degree of freedom; LER=Land equivalent ratio; MAI=Monetary advantage index.

Number	Weed species	Weed density (count/m ²)	Relative density (%)
1	Portulaca oleracea	4.76	24.84
2	Cyprus spp	3.86	20.13
3	Conyza canadensis	2.06	10.74
4	Datura stramonium	1.49	7.77
5	Digitaria abyssinica	1.27	6.61
6	Guizocia spp	0.92	4.82
7	Cynodon dactylon	0.87	4.53
8	Bidens pilosa	0.71	3.71
9	Galinsoga parviflora	0.69	3.60
10	Sonchus spp	0.65	3.38
11	Tagetus minuta	0.58	3.03
12	Snowdenia polystachya	0.39	2.03
13	Oxalis latifolia	0.36	1.88
14	Chenopodium spp	0.33	1.72
15	Amaranthus spp	0.23	1.20

Appendix Table 8 Weeds species and their relative density in roselle-common bean intercropping at Hawassa during 2017/2018 cropping season

7.2 Appendix Figures



Appendix Figure 1. Picture showing intercropping Hibiscus-Sudan variety with common bean at Hawassa, Southern Ethiopia



Appendix Figure 2. Picture showing intercropping Hibiscus-Jamaica variety with common bean at Hawassa, Southern Ethiopia



Appendix Figure 3 Picture showing roselle at seedling stage before intercropping common bean (left) and sowing common bean (right)



Appendix Figure 4 Picture showing roselle calyx yield collection



Appendix Figure 5 Picture showing sun drying roselle calyx yield